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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited (the 
“Company” or “Champion Alliance International Holdings”), I am pleased to present the annual report of the Company and 
its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December 2023 (“Year” or “Reporting Period”).

In the post-pandemic time, China experienced a bumpy rebound in 2023 as the country’s recovery from COVID-19 was not 
as encouraging as it was expected in the beginning of the year, due to the reasons of weaker than expected consumer and 
business confidence, mounting local government debts and slowing jobs, business activities, and investments. The deepening 
property market concerns and deflationary risks hindered the economic recovery in 2023, and it is expected to draw stronger 
stimulating policies in 2024 that may favor the consumer and new energy markets.

To cope with the economic uncertainties in the coming year, the Group adjusted its strategies and took measures to minimise 
unnecessary operating costs, while continuing to explore opportunities to expand its existing operations via horizontal 
and vertical integrations. Besides, the Group has set its eyes on possible merger and acquisition opportunities that could 
strengthen its business spectrum to help the Group navigate the adverse operating environment ahead.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s revenue from continuing operations increased 83.5% to approximately RMB119.65 
million because of the pickup in consumer demands towards the household paper products in the post-pandemic time.

Gross profit from continuing operations for the Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB22.7 million, representing 
a year-on-year increase of approximately 24.3%. Gross profit margin was approximately 19%. Profit attributable to 
shareholders of the Company amounted to approximately RMB17.23 million, as compared with a net loss attributable to 
owners of the Company of approximately RMB9.2 million for corresponding period of financial year 2022. The turnaround 
was primarily due to (i) the substantial increase in revenue for the household paper products segment during the Reporting 
Period; and (ii) the Group ceased and disposed the loss making cigarette packaging products business in October 2022, and 
the loss of approximately RMB48.25 million the Group has endured from the cigarette packaging products segment in 2022 
has no longer had effect in the Reporting Period.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has leased the new energy operations to a state-owned enterprise and the handover 
of factory and equipment was completed by 15 November 2023.

Looking ahead, the Group remains confident in the long-term development of China’s economy and our operations in a 
post-pandemic time. The Chinese government has set the GDP growth target at “around 5%” for 2024, and specifically 
focuses on helping employment and puts targets on the new urban jobs created and urban unemployment rate for 2024 
at 12 million and 5.5% respectively. With the possible favoring policy in job market that would provide job security to the 
working class, private consumption is expected to see a rebound and in turn potentially boosts the demand for consumer 
goods including household paper products and hygiene products.

Furthermore, as the need for sustainability has been growing tremendously in recent years around the globe, China is also 
devoted to achieve its “dual-carbon” goal. The Group sees the new energy segment as another long-term growth catalyst, 
thus the Group will keep abreast of the development of the market and look into opportunities to capture the policy 
dividends derived from the sector.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my gratitude to the continuous trust and support of all shareholders, investors, 
business partners and customers. The management team and all staff members of the Group will continue to strive for better 
results for the Group together and bringing higher returns to the shareholders.

Chen Shuming
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group is principally engaged in the (i) new energy operations, which includes the production and sale of steam for 
industrial use, household heating and electricity production; and (ii) sale of household paper products and hygiene products.

MARKET REVIEW

In 2023, the People’s Republic of China (“PRC” or “China”) has slowly recovered from the large-scale outbreaks of the 
pandemic of the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), the growth in Gross Domestic Products (“GDP”) of the country has risen 
up to 5.2% year on year, showing a steady pickup of post-COVID bounce although there are signs of property market 
concerns and deflationary risks.

BUSINESS REVIEW

i. New Energy Operations

The new energy operation segment of the Group engages in the production and sale of steam for industrial use, 
household heating and electricity in the PRC. The Group provides integrated services solutions for high-efficiency clean 
coal technology, clean production, energy saving, and environmental protection. Through these solutions, the Group 
has helped the PRC’s clean energy industry to transform, upgrade and tackle the long-existing heating supply problem 
in urban areas and industrial parks.

In 2023, the recovery in industrial and manufacturing activities in the PRC had not yet been brought back to pre-
pandemic level as China’s Purchasing Manager Index showed slowing signs that saw the index stood below 50 for 
seven months in 2023. The clean energy sector on other hand saw a stunning growth of 40% year-on-year as the clean 
energy investment in China rose to RMB6.3 trillion and accounted for 40% of China’s GDP growth in 2023.

On 6 November 2023, the Group made a lease agreement with a state-owned enterprise, of which the Group has 
leased the factory, the equipment and the land to the state-owned enterprise until 31 December 2026. The details of 
the transaction are set out in the “Disclosable Transaction” section below.

During the reporting period, revenue of this segment was approximately RMB126 million, representing an decrease of 
approximately 32% as compared to 2022.

ii. Household Paper and Hygiene Products

The Group’s household paper and hygiene products segment trades household paper and hygiene products in the PRC. 
The Group’s household paper and hygiene products business currently has over 400 corporate customers, with sales 
network spanning across Heilongjiang, Jilin, Liaoning, Hebei, Henan, Shandong, Shaanxi, Jiangsu and Anhui Provinces, 
Beijing and Tianjin.

Due to the change of consumption behavior in the post-pandemic time, there has been a shift in consumer focus 
towards online shopping and home-related shopping. This has led to an increase in the demand for household paper 
products in general.

During the reporting period, revenue of this segment was approximately RMB117.7 million, representing an increase of 
approximately 80.6% as compared to 2022.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 December 2023, total revenue of the Group was approximately RMB119.7 million, representing an 
increase of approximately RMB54.5 million over the total revenue of approximately RMB65.2 million for the corresponding 
period in 2022.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 2022:

For the year ended 31 December
2023 2022 Change

RMB’000 RMB’000 %
(Re-presented)

Property leasing 1,947 – N/A
Household paper products 117,705 65,188 80.6
Total continuing operations 119,652 65,188 83.5    

New energy generations 126,339 185,469 (31.9)
Cigarette packaging products – 83,351 (100)
Total discontinued operations 126,339 268,820 (53)    

Total 245,991 334,008 (26.4)    

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit from the continuing operations increased from approximately RMB18.2 million for the year ended 
31 December 2022 to approximately RMB22.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The increase was mainly due to 
the increase in total revenue. Gross profit margin decreased from approximately 28% for the year ended 31 December 2022 
to approximately 19% for the year ended 31 December 2023.

Other Income and Gains and Loss

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s other income and gains and loss mainly consisted of bank interest 
income, other interest income, government grants, and other income. The other income and gains and loss increased by 
approximately 94.3% to approximately RMB1.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 from approximately RMB0.7 
million for the year ended 31 December 2022. The increase was mainly due to the increase in other income and the Group 
received large sum of other interest income during the reporting period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Selling and Distribution Expenses

During the reporting period, selling and distribution expenses mainly consisted of (i) costs of transportation expenses, (ii) 
staff costs, (iii) entertainment expenses, (iv) travelling expenses and (v) other expenses. The Group’s selling and distribution 
expenses decreased by approximately 48.4% from approximately RMB3.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to 
approximately RMB1.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in selling and distribution expenses was 
mainly due to the Group’s cost saving measures.

Administrative Expenses

For the year ended 31 December 2023, administrative expenses mainly consisted of (i) staff costs, (ii) depreciation and 
amortisation, (iii) entertainment expenses, (iv) office expenses and (v) legal and professional fee. Administrative expenses 
decreased from approximately RMB8.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 to approximately RMB6.4 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2023. The decrease in administrative expenses of the Group was mainly due to the decrease of 
staff costs for the reporting period.

Finance Costs

Finance costs mainly consisted of interest expenses from bank and other borrowings, imputed interest on rental deposit 
received and interest on lease liabilities. Finance costs decreased from approximately RMB2.1 million for the year ended 31 
December 2022 to approximately RMB0.6 million. The decrease was mainly attributable to the decrease in interest expenses 
from bank and other borrowings.

Income Tax Expense

The Group’s income tax expense was approximately RMB5.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2023. The Group’s 
income tax expense was approximately RMB3.9 million in the same period of 2022.

Profit/(Loss) Attributable to Owners of the Company

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s profit attributable to owners of the Company was approximately 
RMB17.2 million. Loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 was approximately 
RMB9.2 million. The turnaround was primarily due to (i) the substantial increase in revenue for the household paper products 
segment of the Group during the Relevant Year; and (ii) the net loss attributable to owners of the Company in the amount 
of approximately RMB18.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2022 was mainly due to the loss making position of the 
cigarette packaging products business of the Group in the amount of approximately RMB48.4 million and such business was 
ceased and disposed of by the Group in October 2022.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

Net Current Assets

The Group recorded net current assets of approximately RMB154.3 million as at 31 December 2023, while the net current 
assets as at 31 December 2022 was approximately RMB150.8 million.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Borrowings and Gearing Ratio

The total debt of the Group as at 31 December 2023 were approximately RMB31.4 million (as at 31 December 2022: 
RMB38.1 million). The Group’s gearing ratio decreased from approximately 11.8% as at 31 December 2022 to approximately 
9.4% as at 31 December 2023. The decrease in the gearing ratio was primarily a result of the decrease in total debt. 
Gearing ratio was calculated by dividing total debt (which mainly consisted of other borrowings and amount due to a former 
shareholder of a subsidiary) by total equity as at the dates indicated and multiplied by 100%.

Capital Expenditure

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group’s total capital expenditure amounted to approximately RMB3.1 million, 
which was mainly used in plant and machinery and office equipment (year ended 31 December 2022: RMB4.3 million).

Treasury Policies

The Group adopts a prudent approach with respect to treasury and funding policies, with a focus on risk management and 
transactions that are directly related to the underlying business of the Group.

Capital Structure

The capital structure of the Group consists of equity attributable to owners of the Company, which comprises issued share 
capital and reserves. During the year ended 31 December 2023, there had been no change in the number of issued shares in 
the Company (the “Shares”).

DISCLOSABLE TRANSACTION

On 6 November 2023, 中煤東能（山東）清潔能源有限公司 (for transliteration purpose only, China Coal Dongneng (Shandong) 
New Energy Company Limited), a company established in the PRC with limited liability and a 51% indirectly owned subsidiary 
of the Company (the “Lessor”) entered into a Lease Agreement with 山東東原新能源技術有限公司 (for transliteration 
purpose only, Shandong Dongyuan New Energy Technology Company Limited), a state-owned enterprise established in the 
PRC with limited liability (the “Lessee”), pursuant to which the Lessor agreed to lease the Factory, Equipment and the Land to 
the Lessee for a period from the 15 November 2023 to 31 December 2026.

Under the Lease Agreement, the Lessee shall pay a monthly rent (i) in the amount of RMB1.1 million for the period from the 
Handover Date up to 31 December 2024; (ii) in the amount of RMB1.133 million for the period from the 1 January 2025 
up to 31 December 2025; and (iii) in the amount of RMB1.167 million for the period from the 1 January 2026 up to 31 
December 2026.

The Lessor was engaging in new energy operations which include the production and sale of steam for industrial use, urban 
heating and electricity supply. The handover of the Factory and Equipment was completed by 15 November 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities (as at 31 December 2022: nil).

Foreign Exchange Risk

The Group’s transactions were mainly conducted in RMB, the functional currency of certain subsidiaries of the Group, 
and the major receivables and payables were denominated in RMB. The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk related 
primarily to certain bank balances and cash and other payables maintained in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”). The Group did not 
use derivative financial instruments to hedge against the volatility associated with foreign currency transactions and other 
financial assets and liabilities arising in the ordinary course of business during the year ended 31 December 2023 (year ended 
31 December 2022: nil).

Human Resources and Remuneration

As at 31 December 2023, the Group employed 22 employees (as at 31 December 2022: 146) with total staff costs of 
approximately RMB4.3 million incurred for the same period (for the year ended 31 December 2022: approximately RMB11.3 
million). The decrease of staff costs of the Group was mainly due to the decrease in employees. The Group’s remuneration 
packages are generally structured with reference to market terms and individual merits.

Final Dividend

The Board proposed not to declare any final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (year ended 31 December 2022: 
nil).

Use of Net Proceeds from the Listing

The Company listed its Shares on the Stock Exchange on 25 November 2016 (the “Listing Date”). Net proceeds from 
the listing of the Shares (the “Listing”) (after deduction of the underwriting commission and relevant expenses) were 
approximately HK$42.2 million (equivalent to approximately RMB37.6 million), which has been applied in the manner as 
disclosed in the prospectus of the Company dated 15 November 2016 (the “Prospectus”).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Listing has been utilised as follows:

Use of net proceeds from the Listing

Adjusted use 
of net proceeds 

in the manner 
and proportion 
as stated in the 

Prospectus

Approximate% 
of total actual 

net proceeds

Actual amount 
utilised from 

the Listing 
Date up to 

31 December 
2023

Balance as at 
31 December 

2023

Expected timeline for the remaining 
use of net proceeds (Note) 

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2024

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2025

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchase and upgrade of production equipment, 
as well as expansion and maintenance of the 
production facilities 23,303 62% 3,568 19,735 1,969 17,766

Expansion and upgrade of non-production facilities, 
including but not limited to warehouse and other 
supporting facilities 5,638 15% 1,334 4,304 226 4,078

Business development expenditures, including 
expanding the geographical coverage of 
sales network and research and development 
expenditures relating to the purchase of research 
and development equipment and to future 
research and development projects 4,886 13% 4,886 – – –

Working capital and general corporate purposes 3,758 10% 3,758 – – –       

37,585 100% 13,546 24,039 2,195 21,844       

Note: The expected timeline for utilising the remaining net proceeds is based on the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group. It will 

be subject to change based on the current and future development of market conditions.

As at 31 December 2023, unutilised proceeds amounted to approximately HK$26 million (equivalent to approximately RMB24 
million), which will be invested in production plant, equipment upgrade and technical development. The unutilised portion 
of the net proceeds has been placed as interest bearing deposits with licensed banks as restricted cash in the PRC. As at the 
date of this report, the Directors do not anticipate any change to the plan on the use of net proceeds.

Save for the business plan disclosed in the Prospectus or in this report, there is no other plan for material investments or 
capital assets as at 31 December 2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Commitments

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments of approximately RMB0.1 million in terms of acquisition of 
property, plant and equipment (as at 31 December 2022: RMB1 million).

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following are some principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, which may pose material and adverse effects on its 
business, financial condition or results of operations:

Reliance on Major Customers

For the years ended 31 December 2023, revenue from our five largest customers amounted to approximately RMB134 
million, which accounted for approximately 54.4% of our total revenue for the respective periods.

In order to reduce such reliance and widen our customer base, the Group plans to proactively expand into new markets as 
well as new products range for easing the risk of concentration on income sources.

Policy Changes and Increasing Competition amidst Continuous Industry Development

As the PRC government continues to promote its goals to achieve carbon peaking and carbon neutrality by 2030 and 2060, 
respectively, we are seeing the possibilities of continuous changes in existing policies or implementation of new policies to 
ensure a healthy, sustainable development of the clean energy sector.

In 2023, The National Energy Administration (the “NEA”) issued the “2023 Energy Work Guidance Opinions”, which 
proposed to deepen the green and low-carbon transformation of energy. Further, on 8 November 2023, China’s National 
Development and Reform Commission (NDRC) and the NEA issued a policy on a coal power capacity pricing mechanism that 
aims to drive renewable expansion and expedite the shift toward low-carbon energy and new energy sector.

Furthermore, if the growth in industry players outweighs the growth in demand, such market saturation and competition 
could force lower prices and decreasing profit margins on all market players, which ultimately lowers market efficiency and 
profitability.

During the period, the Company has leased the new energy operations to a state-owned enterprise until 31 December 2026. 
For details please refer to the “Disclosable Transaction” section.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE OUTLOOK

In 2023, China’s economy has seen a bottoms-out in the post-pandemic time, mainly attributed by supports from 
consumption boost driven by service sector recovery, industrial production hike due to state policy highlights high-end and 
green manufacturing transformation, government infrastructure investment funded by the RMB1 trillion bonds, as well as 
exports resilience after the easing pandemic controls of the borders. China’s GDP reached 5.2% for 2023 and the target 
for 2024 has been set at “around 5%”. The government is focusing on helping employment and controlling risks, it has 
targeted to achieve more than 12 million new urban jobs created, urban unemployment rate around 5.5% and a 3% goal 
for consumer price index in 2024.

In the Government Work Report 2024 announced during the two sessions, Industrial System Modernization and Domestic 
Demand Expansion are the two main policy priorities. It is expected that the government will roll out a series of stimulus 
measures to achieve its objectives and goals, the domestic consumption market will provide room for growth market players 
in the sector, particularly consumer staples market and the household paper product segment. The Group aims to increase 
penetration in regions where it has existing sales network via vertical integration by considering opportunities where the 
company could develop up the production stream, and also via horizontal integration by enhancing its product portfolio mix 
by adding wide range of products that are either complements or substitutes to the household paper products.

As China is committed to the energy transition to achieve its “dual-carbon” goals, pro-energy transition policies would be 
expected to drive up investments in the new energy sector. Although the Group has leased its new energy operation to the 
Lessee, the Group will continue to search for investment opportunities in the new energy market in other regions other than 
Shandong Province in order to capture the policy dividends of the aforementioned beneficial policies.

The Group expects the steady growth of China economy will provide the best environment for the Group to continue to 
strive on its existing businesses and produce fruitful results and returns for the Group’s stakeholders. The Group also will 
consider opportunities to develop and explore other businesses that could provide adequate synergy to the Group as a whole.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors are pleased to present to the shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”) this report together with the 
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details of the principal activities and other particulars of the 
Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income on page 61 of this report.

SEGMENTAL INFORMATION

The segmental information of the Group are set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Group’s business, including the likely future developments, principal risks and uncertainties faced by the 
Group, analysis using key financial performance indicators, are discussed under the sections headed “Chairman’s Statement” 
and “Management Discussion and Analysis” in this report. Such discussion forms an integrate part of this report. In addition, 
the financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group are set out in note 41 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board proposed not to declare any final dividend for the Year (2022: nil).
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING AND CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held on Thursday, 27 June 2024 (the “2024 AGM”). Notice 
and circular of the 2024 AGM will be delivered to Shareholders in accordance with the Listing Rules and the articles of 
association of the Company in due course. For the purpose of determining Shareholders who are entitled to attend and vote 
at the 2024 AGM, the register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday, 24 June 2024 to Thursday, 27 June 
2024 (both dates inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to be eligible to attend 
and vote at the 2024 AGM, all completed share transfer instruments accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be 
lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F, Far East Finance 
Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 21 June 2024.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 54.4% 
(2022: 73.9%) of the total sales for the Year and the sales attributable to the largest customer included therein accounted 
for approximately 37.6% of the total sales for the Year (2022: 45.7%).

The aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 94.1% (2022: 69.4%) 
of the total purchases for the Year and the purchase attributable to the largest supplier included therein accounted for 
approximately 46.7% of the total purchases for the Year (2022: 17.7%).

None of the Directors, their close associates (as defined in the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange 
(the “Listing Rules”)) or any Shareholders to the Company (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% 
of the Shares) had any interests in the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognises that employees, customers and business partners are keys to its sustainable development. The Group 
is committed to establishing a close and caring relationship with its customers and enhancing co-operation with its business 
partners.

The Group maintains a very stable and experienced management team and places great emphasis on training its employees 
such as by providing induction training for new employees, on-the-job training, team building training and external 
training. The Group also organized various social activities occasionally to create a harmonious working environment for the 
employees.

During the Year, the Group maintained good relationship with its customers and generally maintained a high contract 
renewal rate with the ten largest customers to keep abreast of market development and potential business opportunities.

The Group has maintained stable and long-established business relationships with its major suppliers. We do not foresee any 
difficulty in procurement nor experienced any production disruption due to shortage of raw materials.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the Year are set out in note 17 to the 
consolidated financial statements in this report.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in note 28 to the consolidated 
financial statements in this report.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no change in the number of issued Shares and the issued share capital during the Year.

Details of the movement of the Company’s share capital are set out in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements in this 
report.

SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A five-year financial summary of the results and the assets and liabilities of the Group is set out on page 130 of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of association (the “Articles”) or the laws of the 
Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in which the Company was incorporated.

RELIEF OF TAXATION

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Shares.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the listed securities of the Company 
on the Stock Exchange, by private arrangement or by way of a general offer throughout the Year.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group during the Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated 
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in equity, respectively, in this report.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING

The Company listed its Shares on the Stock Exchange on 25 November 2016. Net proceeds from the Listing (after deduction 
of the underwriting commission and relevant expenses) were approximately HK$42.2 million (equivalent to approximately 
RMB37.6 million), which has been applied in the manner as disclosed in the Prospectus.

As at 31 December 2023, the net proceeds from the Listing has been utilised as follows:

Use of net proceeds from the Listing

Adjusted use 
of net proceeds 

in the manner 
and proportion 
as stated in the 

Prospectus

Approximate % 
of total actual 

net proceeds

Actual amount 
utilised from 

the Listing Date 
up to 

31 December 
2023

Balance as at 
31 December 

2023

Expected timeline for the 
remaining use of net proceeds (Note) 

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2024

For the 
year ending 

31 December 
2025

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Purchase and upgrade of production equipment, 
as well as expansion and maintenance of the 
production facilities 23,303 62% 3,568 19,735 1,969 17,766

Expansion and upgrade of non-production facilities, 
including but not limited to warehouse and other 
supporting facilities 5,638 15% 1,334 4,304 226 4,078

Business development expenditures, including 
expanding the geographical coverage of 
sales network and research and development 
expenditures relating to the purchase of research 
and development equipment and to future 
research and development projects 4,886 13% 4,886 – – –

Working capital and general corporate purposes 3,758 10% 3,758 – – –       

37,585 100% 13,546 24,039 2,195 21,844       

Note: The expected timeline for utilising the remaining net proceeds is based on the best estimation of the future market conditions made by the Group. It will 

be subject to change based on the current and future development of market conditions.

As at 31 December 2023, unutilised proceeds amounted to approximately HK$26 million (equivalent to approximately RMB24 
million), which will be invested in production plant, equipment upgrade and technique development. The unutilised portion 
of the net proceeds have been placed as interest bearing deposits with licensed banks as restricted cash in the PRC. As at the 
date of this report, the Directors do not anticipate any change to the plan as to use of net proceeds.
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CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Year, there was no connected transaction or continuing connected transaction of the Company under Chapter 
14A of the Listing Rules which are required to comply with any of the reporting, announcement or independent shareholders’ 
approval requirements under the Listing Rules. Material related party transactions entered into by the Group during the 
Year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated financial statements in this report. These related party transactions did not 
constitute connected transactions or continuing connected transactions within the meaning of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the Directors are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Shuming (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Xiaolong
Mr. Hu Enfeng
Mr. Li Aiguo
Mr. Chen Chen

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua
Mr. Zhao Zhendong
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley

In accordance with article 112 of the Articles, any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office 
only until the first general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting. Any 
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following annual 
general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to article 108 of the Articles, at each annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or if 
their number is not three or a multiple of three, then the number nearest to but no less than one-third, shall retire from 
office by rotation provided that every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement 
by rotation at least once every three years. Any Directors so to retire shall be (i) those who wishes to retire and not to offer 
himself for election; (ii) those who have not been subject to retirement by rotation in the three years preceding the annual 
general meeting; and (iii) those who have been longest in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as 
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise 
agree among themselves) be determined by lot. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with the above provisions of the Articles, Mr. Li Aiguo, Mr. Chen Chen, Mr. Chen Hua and Mr. Zhao Zhendong 
will retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM and will offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years 
commencing from their respective date of appointment, namely 20 November 2018, 10 December 2018 or 29 December 
2023. The term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically by three years on the expiry of such initial term and 
on the expiry of every successive period of three years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto in accordance 
with the terms thereof.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial 
term of three years commencing from their respective date of appointment, namely 20 November 2018 or 1 February 2021. 
The term of service shall be renewed and extended automatically by three years upon the expiry of such initial term and on 
the expiry of every successive period of three years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto in accordance with 
the terms thereof.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has an unexpired service contract with the Company which is not determinable 
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

BIOGRAPHIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management of the Group are set out on pages 52 to 55 of this report.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group recruited and promoted individual persons according to their strength and development potential. The Group 
determined the remuneration packages of all employees (including the Directors) with reference to individual performance 
and current market rate.

The remuneration committee of the Board is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy 
and structure for all Directors and senior management remuneration, having regard to market competitiveness, individual 
performance and achievement. None of the Directors will determine their own remuneration.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in notes 11 and 12 
to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS

Save and except for those disclosed under the paragraph headed “Connected and Related Party Transactions” above, no 
transaction, arrangement or contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in 
which a Director or any entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at 
the end of the year or at any time for the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts, other than employment contracts, concerning the management and administration of the whole or any 
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or existed for the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES AND INSURANCE

Subject to the applicable laws, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified by the Company against all costs, charges, 
losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him in the execution and discharge of his duties or in relation thereto pursuant to 
the Articles. Such provisions were in force during the course of the Year and remained in force as of the date of this report.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME CONTRIBUTIONS

Details of the employer’s costs charged to the consolidated profit or loss for the Year and the retirement benefit scheme 
contributions of the Group are set out in note 10 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Company’s distributable reserves as at 31 December 2023 amounted 
to approximately RMB131.8 million.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As at 31 December 2023, the following Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have interests or 
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within 
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”)) (i) 
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) 
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by 
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules:

Interests in the Company

Name Nature of Interest

Number of 
Shares held 

(long position)

Approximate 
percentage 
of interests

Mr. Chen Shuming (Note) (“Mr. Chen”) Interest in a controlled 
corporation

350,000,000 64.09%

Note: Mr. Chen beneficially owns 100% of the issued share capital of Champion Alliance International Corporation, a company incorporated in the British 

Virgin Islands with limited liability. Therefore, Mr. Chen is deemed, or taken to be, interested in the same number of the Shares held by Champion 

Alliance International Corporation for the purpose of the SFO.

Interests in Associated Corporation of the Company

As at 31 December 2023, the interests or short positions of the Directors or chief executive of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares or debentures of the Company’s associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) 
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) 
which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code are as follows:

Name Name of associated corporation Capacity
Number of 

Shares held

Approximate 
percentage 
of interests

Mr. Chen Champion Alliance International 
Corporation

Beneficial owner 1 100%

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the Directors or chief executive of the Company had or was 
deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its 
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) (i) which were required to be notified to the Company 
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which 
they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of 
the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein; or (iii) which were required to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

So far as is known to the Directors, as at 31 December 2023, the following persons (not being Directors or chief executive 
of the Company) had, or were deemed to have, interests or shorts positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures 
of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under the provisions of Divisions 
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the 
Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Name Capacity

Total number 
of Shares held 
(long position)

Approximate 
percentage 
of interests

Champion Alliance International Corporation Beneficial owner (Note 1) 350,000,000 64.09%
Ms. Chen Xiuchun Interest of spouse (Note 2) 350,000,000 64.09%
CM Asset Management (Hongkong)  

Company Limited
Investment manager 45,704,000 8.37%

Shareholder Value Fund Beneficial owner 45,704,000 8.37%

Notes:

1. These Shares were beneficially owned by Champion Alliance International Corporation, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Chen.

2. Ms. Chen Xiuchun is the spouse of Mr. Chen, who in turn beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of Champion Alliance International 

Corporation, and is deemed to be interested in all the Shares in which Mr. Chen is interested pursuant to the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023 the Directors were not aware of any other person (other than the Directors 
or chief executive of the Company) who had or was deemed to have any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying 
shares or debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under 
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which were required to be recorded in the register of interests 
required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

A share option scheme (the “Scheme”) was conditionally adopted by the written resolutions of all Shareholders passed on 
3 November 2016. As of the date of this report, no option had been granted, agreed to be granted, exercised, cancelled or 
lapsed under the Scheme.

Purpose of the Scheme

The purpose of the Scheme is to enable the Group to grant options to the eligible participants as incentive or rewards for 
their contribution to the Group and/or to enable the Group to recruit and retain high-caliber employees and attract human 
resources that are valuable to the Group or any entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest (the 
“Invested Entity”).
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Qualifying Participants

Subject to the provisions in the Scheme, the Board shall be entitled but shall not be bound at any time within a period of 
10 years commencing from the date of adoption of the Scheme to make an offer to any person belonging to the following 
classes:

(i) any employee (whether full time or part time, including the Directors (including any non-executive Director and 
independent non-executive Director), any of its subsidiaries or any Invested Entity;

(ii) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iii) any customer of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(iv) any person or entity that provides research, development or other technological support to any member of the Group 
or any Invested Entity;

(v) any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any 
member of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(vi) any adviser (professional or otherwise), consultant, individual or entity who in the opinion of the Directors has 
contributed or will contribute to the growth and development of the Group; and

(vii) any other group or class of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of joint venture, business 
alliance or other business arrangement to the development and growth of the Group.

Maximum Number of the Shares

The maximum number of the Shares in respect of which options may be granted under the Scheme and under any other 
share option schemes of the Company (excluding, for this purpose, Shares which would have been issuable pursuant to 
options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the Scheme or any other share option scheme of the Company) 
must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue as at Listing Date, being 546,092,537 Shares. 
The Company may, subject to the issue of a circular, the shareholders’ approval in general meeting and/or such other 
requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules, refresh this limit at any time to 10% of the Shares in issue as at the date of 
the shareholders’ approval and/or grant options beyond the 10% limit to eligible participants specifically identified by the 
Board. The above is subject to the condition that the maximum number of the Shares which may be issued upon exercise 
of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the Scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company at any time shall not exceed 30% of the Shares in issue from time to time.

Maximum Entitlement of Each Eligible Participant

The total number of the Shares issued and which may fall to be issued upon exercise of the options granted under the 
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) to each 
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being. Any 
further grant of options in excess of this 1% limit shall be subject to the issue of a circular, the approval of the Shareholders 
in general meeting and/or other requirements prescribed under the Listing Rules.
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Time of Acceptance and Exercise of an Option

The options granted under the Scheme may remain open for acceptance for a period of up to 21 days from the date on 
which the options are offered to eligible participants. Upon acceptance of the option, the eligible person shall pay HK$1 to 
the Company as consideration for the grant.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period to be determined and 
notified by the Directors to the grantee thereof, and in the absence of such determination, from the date of acceptance of 
the offer of such option to the earlier of (i) the date on which such option lapses under the relevant provisions of the Scheme; 
and (ii) the date falling 10 years from the offer date of that option.

Subscription Price for Shares

The subscription price in respect of any option granted under the Scheme shall be at the discretion of the Directors, save that 
such price shall not be less than the highest of:

(i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for trade in one or more board 
lots of the Shares on the offer date;

(ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five business 
days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(iii) the nominal value of a Share.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors or any of their respective associates had any interest in a business which competes or is 
likely compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’ INTEREST

There were no contracts of significance between the Company or any of its subsidiaries and a controlling shareholder or any 
of its subsidiaries nor any contracts of any significance for the provision of services to the Company or any of its subsidiaries 
by a controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company has complied with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code in Appendix C1 of the 
Listing Rules during the Year.

As a publicly listed company, the Directors recognize the importance of good corporate governance standards and internal 
procedures so as to achieve effective accountability and enhance Shareholders’ value. Details of the corporate governance are 
set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” in this report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and communities in which it operates. The 
Company sees sustainable development as the key for a corporation to succeed and therefore, it aims to seek a win-win 
situation for the Group, society and environment by balancing between the creation of economic value and the impact on 
the environment.

In order to meet the requirements of the PRC government and clients and establish a positive corporate image, the Group has 
formulated environmental protection policies and guidelines to enhance its environmental protection management, including 
forming an environmental protection committee to oversee and supervise our environmental protection management and to 
monitor the implementation of environmental protection policies and guidelines.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various laws. These include, among others, the Environmental 
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China《中華人民共和國環境保護法》, Law of the People’s Republic of China on 
Prevention and Control of Pollution From Environmental Noise《中華人民共和國環境噪聲污染防治法》, Law of the People’s 
Republic of China on Appraising of Environment Impacts《中華人民共和國環境影響評價法》, Law of the People’s Republic 
of China on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes《中華人民共和國固體廢物污染環境
防治法》and Decision of the State Council on Several Issues Concerning Environmental Protection《國務院關於環境保護
若干問題的決定》. The Company seeks to ensure compliance with these requirements through various measures such as 
internal controls, training and oversight of various business units at different levels of the Group. The Group highly values the 
importance of ensuring compliance with applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

During the Year, as far as the Company is aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with applicable laws, 
rules and regulations by the Group that have a significant impact on the operations of the Group.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the audit committee of the Board on 3 November 2016 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with Rule 3.22 of the Listing Rules and provision C.3.3 of the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 
C1 to the Listing Rules. The audit committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chin Chi Ho 
Stanley (as chairman), Mr. Chen Hua and Mr. Zhao Zhendong.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year together with the notes attached thereto have been 
reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee is of the opinion that the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group comply with the applicable accounting standards, the Listing Rules and that adequate disclosure has been made.

DONATIONS

No charitable donations were made by the Group during the Year.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received from the independent non-executive Directors confirmations of independence (including an 
annual confirmation from each of the independent non-executive Directors) pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and 
considers that all the independent non-executive Directors are independent of the Company under the Listing Rules.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the 
Company’s total issued share capital was held by the public as at 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the years ended 2020, 2021 and 2022 were audited by BDO Limited.

During the year under review, the Board, by a written resolution of the Company passed on 17 November 2023, appointed 
CCTH CPA Limited as the Company’s auditor to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation of BDO Limited and to hold 
office until the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. Details of the change of auditor are, 
among other things, set out in the Company’s announcement dated 17 November 2023.

The financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2023 have been audited by CCTH CPA Limited 
who will hold office until the conclusion of the next AGM.

An ordinary resolution will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint CCTH CPA 
Limited as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Chen Shuming
Chairman and executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2024
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OVERVIEW

As a publicly listed company, the Directors recognize the importance of good corporate governance standards and internal 
procedures so as to achieve effective accountability and enhance Shareholders’ value. The Company has complied with all 
applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing 
Rules for the Year.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) on 
terms no less exacting than those set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding directors’ 
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors, each of them confirmed that he or she has complied in 
full with the Model Code for the Year.

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board consists of eight Directors, comprising five executive Directors and three independent non-executive Directors. 
The main functions of the Board include the approval of the Group’s overall business plans and strategies, monitoring the 
implementation of these policies and strategies and the management of the Company as well as overseeing the corporate 
governance functions of the Company.

The Board comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chen Shuming (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Xiaolong
Mr. Hu Enfeng
Mr. Li Aiguo (appointed on 29 December 2023)
Mr. Chen Chen (appointed on 29 December 2023)
Mr. Zhang Shihua (resigned as executive Director on 29 December 2023)
Ms. Chen Xiaoyan (retired as executive Director on 28 June 2023)

Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Hua
Mr. Zhao Zhendong
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley

The independent non-executive Directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing 
Rules. The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant to 
the Listing Rules from time to time.

In accordance with the above provisions of the Articles, Mr. Li Aiguo, Mr. Chen Chen, Mr. Chen Hua and Mr. Zhao Zhendong 
will retire by rotation at the 2024 AGM and will offer themselves for re-election at the 2024 AGM.
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Ms. Chen Xiaoyan is the spouse of Mr. Chen Xiaolong and also the daughter-in-law of Mr. Chen Shuming. Mr. Chen Chen 
is the nephew of Mr. Chen Shuming. Save as disclosed, there are no financial, business, family or other material relationships 
among the Directors. The biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section entitled “Biographies of Directors and 
Senior Management” in this report.

In compliance with Rule 3.10(1) of the Listing Rules, the Board currently comprises three independent non-executive 
Directors representing one-third of the Board. Each of the independent non-executive Directors has confirmed by annual 
confirmation that he has complied with the independence criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company 
considers that all the three independent non-executive Directors are independent under these independence criteria and are 
capable to effectively exercise independent judgement. The Directors are experienced in a range of corporate and industry 
expertise. Amongst the three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley has the appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of the Company and overseeing the Group’s businesses, strategic 
decisions, funding and performance, as well as corporate governance practices. The day-to-day management, administration 
and operation of the Company are delegated to the chief executive officer and the senior management of the Company. 
The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically reviewed. Approvals must be obtained from the Board prior to any 
significant transactions entered into by the aforesaid officers.

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance functions set out in provision A.2.1 of the CG Code. As 
at the date of this report, the Board has reviewed and monitored: (a) the Company’s corporate governance policies and 
practices, (b) training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior management, (c) the Company’s 
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (d) the Company’s code of conduct, and (e) the 
Company’s compliance with the CG Code disclosures requirements.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees including the audit committee (the “Audit 
Committee”), the remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”) and the nomination committee (the 
“Nomination Committee”) of the Board (collectively, the “Board Committees”). Further details of the Board Committees are 
set out below.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT

All newly appointed Directors will receive comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of their 
appointment so as to ensure that they have appropriate understanding of the business of the Company and the obligation 
and responsibility of being a Director. Directors’ training is an ongoing process.

Pursuant to the provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors should participate in continuous professional development to 
develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and 
relevant.
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During the Year, all Directors have participated in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their 
knowledge and skills in relation to their contribution to the Board. The individual training record of each Director received 
during the Year is summarised below:

Name of Directors
Attending training course(s)/

reading materials

Mr. Chen Shuming 

Mr. Chen Xiaolong 

Mr. Hu Enfeng 

Mr. Li Aiguo (appointed on 29 December 2023) 

Mr. Chen Chen (appointed on 29 December 2023) 

Mr. Zhang Shihua (resigned on 29 December 2023) 

Ms. Chen Xiaoyan (retired on 28 June 2023) 

Mr. Chen Hua 

Mr. Zhao Zhendong 

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley 

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE

Provision C.5.1 of the CG Code prescribes that at least four regular Board meetings should be held in each year at 
approximately quarterly intervals with active participation of majority of directors, either in person or through other electronic 
means of communication. The Board will schedule to have at least four regular meetings in a year. Other board meetings will 
be held if necessary.

During the Year, the Board convened 6 Board meetings and the Company convened an annual general meeting (“2023 
AGM”). The attendance records of the respective Directors are set out below:

Attendance/Number of meetings
Board meetings 2023 AGM

Mr. Chen Shuming 6/6 1/1
Mr. Chen Xiaolong 6/6 1/1
Mr. Hu Enfeng 6/6 1/1
Mr. Li Aiguo (appointed on 29 December 2023) 1/1 N/A
Mr. Chen Chen (appointed on 29 December 2023) 1/1 N/A
Mr. Zhang Shihua (resigned on 29 December 2023) 3/3 1/1
Ms. Chen Xiaoyan (retired on 28 June 2023) 6/6 1/1
Mr. Chen Hua 6/6 1/1
Mr. Zhao Zhendong 6/6 1/1
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley 6/6 1/1
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

Each of the executive Director has entered into a service agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years 
commencing from 20 November 2018, 10 December 2018 or 29 December 2023. The term of service shall be renewed and 
extended automatically by three years on the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of three 
years thereafter, unless terminated by either party thereto in accordance with the terms thereof.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for an initial 
term of three years commencing from the 20 November 2018 or 1 February 2021. The term of service shall be renewed and 
extended automatically by three years upon the expiry of such initial term and on the expiry of every successive period of 
three years thereafter, unless terminated by either party in accordance with the terms thereto.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors has or is proposed to have an unexpired contract with the Company which is 
not determinable by the Company within one year without payment of compensation other than statutory compensation.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer should be separate 
and not be performed by the same individual. During the Year, Mr. Chen Shuming is the chairman who is primarily 
responsible for the strategic planning and formulation of business strategies of the Group but he would not be involved in 
the day-to-day management of the Group’s business. Mr. Chen Xiaolong is the chief executive officer of the Company who is 
primarily responsible for the strategic planning and overall management and supervision of operations of the Group.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Particulars regarding Directors’ remuneration and the five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to 
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules are set out in notes 11 and 12 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established (i) Audit Committee; (ii) Remuneration Committee; and (iii) Nomination Committee with defined 
terms of reference. The terms of reference of the board Committees, which explain their respective role and the authority 
delegated to them by the Board, are available on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The board 
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek 
independent professional advice and other assistance under appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expenses.
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Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee on 3 November 2016 with written terms of reference in compliance with 
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and provision D.3.3 of the CG Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Audit 
Committee consists of three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (as chairman), Mr. Chen 
Hua and Mr. Zhao Zhendong. The primary duties of the Audit Committee are, among others, to make recommendation to 
the Board on the appointment, reappointment and removal of external auditor, review the financial statements and material 
advice in respect of financial reporting, oversee the financial reporting process, internal control, risk management systems 
and audit process and perform other duties and responsibilities assigned by the Board.

The members of the Audit Committee should meet at least twice a year. During the Year, the Audit Committee had held 3 
meetings, during which the Audit Committee had reviewed, inter alia, the external auditor’s statutory audit scope for the 
Year and their independence; the consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and 
for the six months ended 30 June 2023, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group, as well as 
the risk management and internal control systems of the Group.

The attendance records of the respective members of the Audit Committee are set out below:

Number of meetings held
during the Year

Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Chen Hua 3/3
Mr. Zhao Zhendong 3/3

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee on 3 November 2016 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with Rule 3.26 of the Listing Rules and provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of 
two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Chen Hua (as chairman) and Mr. Zhao Zhendong, and one executive 
Director, Mr. Chen Shuming. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among others, to review and approve 
the management’s remuneration proposals, make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of the 
Directors and senior management and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.

The members of the Remuneration Committee should meet at least once a year. During the Year, the Remuneration 
Committee had held 2 meetings, during which the Remuneration Committee had reviewed, inter alia, the remuneration 
packages for individual executive Directors and senior management and had made recommendations to the Board. The 
attendance records of the respective members of the Remuneration Committee are set out below:

Number of meetings held
during the Year

Mr. Chen Hua (Chairman) 2/2
Mr. Chen Shuming 2/2
Mr. Zhao Zhendong 2/2
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee on 3 November 2016 with written terms of reference in 
compliance with provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director, Mr. Chen 
Shuming (as chairman) and two independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhao Zhendong and Mr. Chin Chi Ho 
Stanley. The primary duties of the nomination committee are, among others, to review the structure, size and composition 
of the Board and, make recommendations on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships and assess the 
independence of independent non-executive Director. A summary of the nomination policy adopted by the Board is set out 
below.

Nomination Criteria

When making recommendations regarding the appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board or reappointment 
of any existing member(s) of the Board, the Nomination Committee shall consider a variety of factors including without 
limitation the following in assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate:

(a) reputation for integrity;

(b) accomplishment, experience and reputation in the business and other relevant sectors relate to the Company and/or its 
subsidiaries;

(c) commitment in respect of sufficient time and attention to the Company’s business;

(d) diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural/educational and professional background, skills, 
knowledge and experience;

(e) the ability to assist and support management and make significant contributions to the Company’s success;

(f) compliance with the criteria of independence as prescribed in the Listing Rules for the appointment of an independent 
non-executive Director; and

(g) any other relevant factors as may be determined by the Nomination Committee from time to time.
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Nomination Procedures

The Company has put in place the following director nomination procedures:

Appointment of New and Replacement Directors

(i) If the Board determines that an additional or replacement Director is required, it will deploy multiple channels for 
identifying suitable director candidates, including referral from Directors, Shareholders, management and advisors of 
the Company and external executive search firms.

(ii) Upon compilation and interview of the list of potential candidates, the relevant Nomination Committee will shortlist 
candidates for consideration by the Nomination Committee/Board based on the selection criteria and such other 
factors that it considers appropriate. The Board has the final authority on determining suitable director candidate for 
appointment.

Re-election of Directors and Nomination from Shareholders

(i) Where a retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself for re-election, the Board shall consider and, if consider 
appropriate, recommend such retiring Director to stand for re-election at a general meeting. A circular containing the 
requisite information on such retiring Director will be sent to shareholders prior to a general meeting in accordance 
with the Listing Rules.

(ii) Any Shareholder who wishes to nominate a person to stand for election as a Director at a general meeting must lodge 
with the company secretary of the Company within the lodgment period specified in the relevant circular (a) a written 
nomination of the candidate, (b) written confirmation from such nominated candidate of his willingness to stand for 
election, and (c) biographical details of such nominated candidate as required under the Listing Rules. Particulars of the 
candidate so proposed will be sent to all Shareholders for information by a supplementary circular.

Any member of the Nomination Committee may call for a meeting anytime when it is necessary. During the Year, the 
Nomination Committee had held 3 meetings, during which the Nomination Committee had reviewed, inter alia, the 
structure, size and composition of the Board and had assessed the independence of the independent non-executive Directors. 
The attendance records of the respective members of the Nomination Committee are set out below:

Number of meetings held
during the Year

Mr. Chen Shuming (Chairman) 3/3
Mr. Zhao Zhendong 3/3
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley 3/3
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BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diversified Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board 
level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage and believes that greater diversity of 
directors is good for corporate governance and is committed:

• To attract and retain candidate(s) for Board with a combination of competencies from the widest possible pool of 
available talents.

• To maintain a Board with diversity perspectives at all levels, in particular, those are aligning with the Company’s strategy 
and objectives.

• To assess regularly the diversity profile of the Board and, where applicable, senior management prepared for Board 
positions under the succession planning of the Company and the progress on achieving diversity objectives, if any.

• To ensure that the selection and nomination of Board positions are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of 
candidates can be considered.

• To set up appropriate procedures for development of a broader and more diverse pool of skilled and experienced senior 
management that would be prepared for Board positions.

• To ensure that changes to the Board’s composition can be managed without undue disruption.

The Board therefore adopted the board diversity policy which aims to build and maintain a Board with a diversity of directors, 
in terms of skills, experience, knowledge, expertise, culture, independence, age and gender. These differences will be taken 
into account in determining the optimum composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee will discuss the measurable 
objectives for implementing diversity on the Board from time to time and recommend them to the Board for adoption. The 
Nomination Committee will report annually on the composition of the Board under diversified perspectives, and monitor the 
implementation of this policy to ensure the effectiveness of this policy. It will also discuss any revisions that may be required, 
and recommend any such revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

For the purpose of implementation of the board diversity policy, the following measurable objectives were adopted:

1. at least one-third of the members of the Board shall be independent non-executive Directors; and

2. at least one of the members of the Board shall have obtained accounting or other professional qualifications.

The Board has achieved the measurable objectives in the board diversity policy.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view of the state of 
affairs of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. The financial statements are prepared in accordance 
with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards. The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its 
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report contained in this report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company has engaged CCTH CPA Limited as its external auditor for the Year until the conclusion of the forthcoming 
annual general meeting. There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, 
appointment, resignation or dismissal of the external auditor. During the Year, the fees paid/payable to CCTH CPA Limited 
in respect of its services relating to the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Company for the Year was 
RMB1.08 million, and other services was RMB0.04 million.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the dividend policy adopted by the Board, the Company may declare and distribute dividends to the Shareholders, 
provided that the Group records a distributable profit under the laws of the Cayman Island and that the declaration and 
distribution of dividends does not affect the normal operations of the Group. In deciding whether to propose a dividend and 
in determining the dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia: (i) the general financial condition of the 
Group; (ii) capital and debt level of the Group; (iii) future cash requirements and availability for business operations, business 
strategies and future development needs; (iv) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the Group’s 
lenders; (v) the general market conditions; and (vi) any other factors that the Board deems appropriate. The payment of the 
dividend by the Company is also subject to any restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and the articles 
of association of the Company. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to Shareholders’ approval. The dividend 
policy will continue to be reviewed from time to time and there can be no assurance that a dividend will be proposed or 
declared in any specific periods.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal control of the Group and for reviewing their effectiveness 
in order to safeguard the Shareholders’ investment and the Group’s assets. Appropriate policies and procedures have been 
designed to ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision of reliable financial information for internal use 
or for publication, ensure compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

Procedures have been set up for safeguarding assets against improper use or disposal, controlling over capital expenditure, 
maintaining proper financial and accounting records and ensuring the reliability of financial information used for business 
and publication. Key risks that may impact on the Group’s performance are appropriately identified and managed. Qualified 
management of the Group maintains and monitors the risk management and internal control systems on an ongoing basis 
and reports to the Audit Committee at regular meetings. The Board has conducted its annual review of the effectiveness 
of the risk management and internal control system of the Group, is reasonably satisfied that the Group has fully complied 
with the CG Code in respect of risk management and internal controls during the Year and considers said systems effective 
and adequate. The systems and internal control can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss, rather than eliminate the risks of failure to achieve business objectives.



34

Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The principal risks and uncertainties for the Group can be found in the section entitled “Management Discussion and 
Analysis” and note 41 to the consolidated financial statements in this report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Leung Mei King, whose biography details are set out in the section headed 
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” in this report.

Ms. Leung has been informed of the requirement of the Rules 3.28 and 3.29 of the Listing Rules, and she confirmed that she 
had attained no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during the Year.

ALTERATIONS TO THE CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There has been no significant change in the Company’s constitutional documents during the Year. The amended and 
restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and 
the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS AND COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims to, via its corporate governance structure, enable all the Shareholders an equal opportunity to exercise 
their rights in an informed manner and allow all the Shareholders to engage actively with the Company. Under the Articles, 
the shareholder communication policy and other relevant internal procedures of the Company, the Shareholders enjoy, 
among others, the following rights:

Participation at General Meetings

The general meetings of the Company provide an opportunity for communication between the Shareholders and the Board. 
An annual general meeting of the Company shall be held in each year and at the place as may be determined by the Board. 
Each general meeting, other than an annual general meeting, shall be called an extraordinary general meeting (“EGM”). 
The 2023 AGM was held on 28 June 2023. The 2024 AGM is scheduled to be held on 27 June 2024. A circular containing 
among other things, further information relating to the 2024 AGM will be dispatched to the Shareholders in accordance with 
the Articles and the Listing Rules.

Right to put Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing them to the company secretary of the 
Company at Unit E, 22/F, Tower A, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The company 
secretary of the Company is responsible for forwarding communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct 
responsibilities to the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as suggestions and inquiries, to 
the chief executive officer of the Company.
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Convening of EGM and Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

In accordance with the article 64 of the Articles, the Board may whenever it thinks fit convene EGMs. EGMs shall also be 
convened on the requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one 
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in 
writing to the Board or the company secretary of the Company at Unit E, 22/F, Tower A, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, 
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the purpose of requiring an EGM to be called by the Board for the transaction of any 
business specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If 
within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) 
may convene a physical meeting at only one location which will be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses 
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the 
Company.

Procedures for Nomination of Director

In accordance with the article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the 
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless a notice in writing of the 
intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that person of his willingness to be elected 
shall have been lodged at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Unit E, 22/F, Tower A, Billion Centre, 1 Wang 
Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong or at the Hong Kong branch share registrar of the Company at Tricor 
Investor Services Limited 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong. The period for lodgment of the notices 
required under this Article will commence no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting 
appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such general meeting and the minimum 
length of the period during which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least seven days.
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REPORTING SCOPE, MATERIALITY AND PERIOD

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) report (“ESG Report”) is prepared by the Company. This ESG Report is 
published in accordance with the Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Reporting Guide”) as set 
out in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules and the “comply or explain” provisions contained therein.

Reporting Principle and Scope

This ESG Report covers our strategies, accomplishments and ongoing measures to enhance our ESG performance, while 
identifying ESG risks and challenges that induce significant impacts to our operations and are of the greatest interest 
or concern to stakeholders for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2022. In this regard, this ESG report contains 
qualitative and quantitative information about our approaches, initiatives and priorities in achieving our ESG objectives and 
managing relevant risks.

This qualitative and quantitative information covers mainly the Group’s principal business operations of (i) new energy 
segment (production of steam for industrial use, household heating, and electricity supply), and (ii) household paper products 
during the Reporting Period. These businesses were mainly operated in the Group’s headquarters and its self-owned 
production facility and the plants in Shandong Province. 

Our Hong Kong office is mainly used for administrative purpose, where freshwater is mainly supplied through common 
amenities in the leased office spaces for our employees’ daily general hygiene needs, and it emits, discharges immaterial 
amounts of wastewater, hazardous and non-hazardous wastes, and greenhouse gas through its minimal consumption of 
electricity and energy. 

Therefore, for our reporting on the environmental aspect, this ESG report will mainly discuss the impact of our operations in 
Hubei Province and Shandong Province, unless otherwise stated.

Regarding the corporate governance structure of the Group and other relevant information, please refer to the Corporate 
Governance Report on pages 25 to 35 in this annual report.
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Materiality Assessment

This report serves as a key channel to communicate our ESG approaches with our stakeholders. Hence, we have conducted a 
materiality assessment which examines the importance of various issues to our stakeholders as well as the potential impact to 
our business development. The findings and results of the materiality assessment were set out below in the materiality matrix:

Stakeholders Company

1 Employee development 8 8
2 Reward to employee 8 8
3 Employee rights and equal opportunities 6 8
4 Occupational health and safety 10 8
5 Corporate governance 10 10
6 Product and service quality 10 10
7 Supply chain management 8 8
8 Financial performance 6 10
9 Customer privacy/intellectual property rights 10 10
10 Business ethics and anti-corruption 10 10
11 Environmental policy and impact 8 6
12 Community investment 6 6
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Stakeholder Groups, Their Concerns and How We Engage with Them

We understand that stakeholder engagement plays a pivotal role to our continuous effort in improving our ESG standard. 
Therefore, we have built and maintained for our shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, other stakeholders and all 
interested parties various communication channels. We also endeavour to provide our stakeholders with clear information 
about our approaches to business operation and ESG issues. These include, but are not limit to, statutory announcements, 
circulars, financial reports, shareholders’ meetings, corporate websites and electronic correspondence.

Stakeholder groups Key topics of interest How we engage   

Employees Labour rights;
Employee engagement;
Promotion and development 

opportunities;
Health and safety

Staff newsletter;
Staff training;
Staff appraisal and survey

   

Shareholders and investors Financial performance;
Corporate governance;
Compliance and ESG performance

Results announcement and financial reports;
Shareholders’ meeting/investor meeting

   

Customers Quality and pricing of services and 
products;

Protection of data privacy and 
intellectual property

After-sales survey and follow-up 
communication;

Promotional and marketing collaterals

   

Suppliers/business partners Responsible supply chains;
Business continuity and conduct;
Product specifications and quality 

expectations;
Fair competition

Supplier visits and meeting;
Feedback on service and products

   

Governments and regulators Corporate governance;
Relevant regulated information;
Labour rights;
Economic contributions;
Environmental impact and compliance;
Business continuity and sustainability

Financial reports;
Disclosure in accordance with relevant 

regulations

   

Non-government organisations and 
local communities

Environmental protection commitment;
Community support and engagement

Meeting and call with relevant organisations
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We value opinions on the Group’s approaches on the ESG aspects upon reading the ESG Report. Please share with us via:

Postal address: Unit E, 22/F, Tower A, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong
Tel No.: (852) 2327 8009
Fax No.: (852) 3971 0870

ACHIEVING SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT OF THE COMPANY AND THE COMMUNITY

In 2023, the economic rebound in the post-pandemic time is not as robust as expected, uncertainties remain and more 
importantly, it has already changed how we live as an individual and how we operate as a company. As a responsible 
company, we constantly evolve so that we are able to adapt and react to abrupt changes brought about by unexpected 
situation. 

The pandemic also led business leaders to re-contemplate the relationship between a company and an employee, as well as 
between a business and the community – and how all these transform our strategies to pursue sustainability as a company to 
ensure a long-term, healthy development together with the world we live in. 

We are committed to supporting to our employees through all sorts of difficulties that they and their families may encounter, 
while implementing stricter workplace hygiene and safety protocols. We also strengthened our communication with 
suppliers, business partners and regulators so that we could address major issues that have or may have material impact to 
the communities, such as climate change, suppressed economic development, and so on.

Throughout the years, sustainability has been central to our business. While we have a well-defined governance framework 
to ensure board-level oversight and management of our ESG priorities across the Group, we are also building on these strong 
foundations to accelerate progress towards a sustainable future and create a better tomorrow for all our stakeholders. We 
engage with the communities in which we operate and involve our employees in the process to improve our sustainability 
efforts, with an aim to progress our ESG strategy from the traditional risk mitigation approach to value creation for all our 
stakeholders.

REPORTING ON ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

We operate an environmental management system that is based on ISO14001-2015 certification and governed by a 
Safety and Environmental Protection Department since 2018. The department is responsible for reinforcing the Group’s 
environmental control, designing relevant system and providing environmental training for employees. We have a 
robust system in place to manage our environmental risks and emission levels to ensure that we comply with all relevant 
government requirements. The Group has made continuous efforts to adopt policies, including forming an environmental 
protection committee to oversee and supervise our environmental protection management, help improve our environmental 
stewardship.

In addition, we believe that it is critical that our employees share the same values to protect our environment. Hence, we 
have stepped up our efforts in promoting environmental awareness among our employees. We often issue various notices to 
remind them of our environmental protection measures and provide updates and information about environmental issues and 
the Group’s latest environmental initiatives. We have also codified and drawn up a set of safety and environmental protection 
manual for employees to heighten their awareness and arrange relevant training.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of non-compliance with relevant environmental laws and regulations 
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharge into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous 
waste that have a significant impact on the Group. The Group also confirmed that during the Reporting Period, our business 
operation had not encountered any punishment by respective governmental authorities due to violation of the above laws 
and regulations.
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Emission and Resource Stewardship

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with relevant laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the 
Group relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste. These laws and regulations include, but not limited to, the Environmental Protection Law of the People’s 
Republic of China (《中華人民共和國環境保護法》) Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of 
Pollution From Environmental Noise (《中華人民共和國環境噪聲污染防治法》), Law of the People’s Republic of China on 
Appraising of Environment Impacts (《中華人民共和國環境影響評價法》), Law of the People’s Republic of China on the 
Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes (《中華人民共和國固體廢物污染環境防治法》), PRC Law 
on Air Pollution Control (《中華人民共和國大氣污染防治法》) and Decision of the State Council on Several Issues Concerning 
Environmental Protection (《國務院關於環境保護若干問題的決定》). 

Throughout the years, we have implemented effective measures to reduce wastage and consumption levels of resources in 
our facilities and offices. Relevant training and information are provided to our employees to adequately communicate these 
measures and to raise their awareness. When situation allows, we always seek to upgrade our production technology and 
enhance business processes to achieve better energy and water efficiency.

During the Reporting Period, we did not encounter any challenges to access fresh water source, nor did we see that our 
business has brought negative impact to the access and quality of fresh water to our communities. We call on our factory 
workers and employees from time to time to enhance water efficiency and actively manage consumption of potable water or 
water for production use.

Greenhouse Gas and Exhaust Gas Emissions

A stringent production control system is critical to achieve our goals to minimising direct and indirect greenhouse gas 
emissions and reducing energy consumption. Ongoing measures such as enhancing production and energy efficiency, 
upgrading production technology, adopting green building design are under regular reviews to ensure that the Group 
operates in a high environmental level.

We have obtained all relevant and necessary permits for pollutant emissions for our operations in Shandong Province, while 
we closely monitor our levels of pollutant emissions, including sulfur oxide, nitrogen oxide, smoke and other industrial 
exhaust gas. We strictly enforce the ultra-low emission standard to support the country’s carbon reduction objective and 
ensure that our exhaust gas emissions, however minimal, are within the maximum limit.

We are mindful of the environmental risks a business may have along its supply chain. Therefore, while we strive to embed 
and sustain a comprehensive environmental protection system within our production and operating processes, we also 
communicate with our suppliers and business partners to gain a stronger understanding and assurance of their environmental 
control levels. Suitable arrangements are made for the delivery of raw materials from our suppliers and delivery of products to 
our customers, including optimising travelling routes and regular check of vehicles, so as to minimise exhaust gas emissions 
produced during the delivery process.
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Sewage Discharge

Our operations in Shandong Province obtained the necessary wastewater and pollutant discharge permit. Domestic and 
industrial wastewater produced during operation is handled properly through wastewater processing facilities including 
grease trap and septic tank at our production sites or by qualified subcontractors before being discharged to the municipal 
wastewater system. All these procedures meet the requirements stipulated by relevant national laws and regulations, 
including the PRC Law on the Prevention and Treatment of Water Pollution (《中華人民共和國水污染防治法》). Industrial 
wastewater produced in Shandong manufacturing base is reused without discharging.

Noise Control

Our operations create certain mechanical noise from the use of machinery and equipment, and automobile aerodynamic 
noise from our vehicle fleet. To minimise such noise pollutions, we perform regular maintenance and repair works for our 
machinery and equipment to ensure that they function normally. Otherwise, we would replace them with new ones or more 
technologically advanced models. We also make sure that these machinery and equipment operate only in hours allowed by 
relevant regulations.

Waste Treatment and Reduction

Our approach to minimising our environmental impact created by operational waste stems from the idea of waste reduction 
and proper treatment.

Regular monitoring and adherence to the set operating procedures are key to avoid wastage. We adopt the well-known 
concept of “3R” as we intend to reduce, reuse and recycle waste from our products, packaging and production process 
through improving relevant manufacturing processes. We classify our operational waste by types and reuse paper and other 
reusable waste when feasible. Scrap metal, toner cartridges and ink cartridges, large water bottles and other non-reusable 
waste are collected and handled by qualified subcontractors, or are disposed of at area as designated by the property 
management office of the office premises.

Quantity
Emissions Unit 2023 2022    

Greenhouse gas
– Scope 1 – direct emission fuel consumption tonne  

(CO2 equivalents)
N/A N/A

– Scope 2 – indirect emission electricity consumption 507 3,134.4    

Other emissions
– Wastewater

tonne
51,235 15,830

– Hazardous wastes 24 24
– Non-hazardous wastes 16 16    

Resource Consumption Data:

Quantity
Consumption Unit 2023 2022    

Water tonne 88,507 27,346    

Electricity kWh 956,423 5,137,538    
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Making Environmental-friendly Products

Making products that are more environmental-friendly is important to our journey to reduce waste and our carbon footprint. 
We invest in research and development to consistently launch new household paper products with increased recycled content 
or resources that are more eco-friendly. We explore raw materials that are easily accessible and create lower environmental 
impact from sourcing and using of them, such as materials that are reusable or degradable.

Our team of household paper product operation boasts extensive professional experience and endeavours to conduct 
research on measures to protect natural resources. These initiatives include monitoring of and improving traceability of 
supply source and avoiding over-consumption and preventing acts that threaten the sustainability of resource use, as well as 
prioritising the procurement and selection of wood pulp certified by China Forest Certification Council, Forest Stewardship 
Council, Programme for the Endorsement of Forest Certification Schemes or other certification schemes, and resisting 
procurement and use of wood pulp from illegal logging.

Our Role in Fighting Climate Change

Since the PRC government announced its 2060 carbon neutrality target in September 2020, the country has unveiled multiple 
environmental policies and action plans under the 1+N policy framework. In September 2021, the Central Government 
released the Working Guidance for Carbon Dioxide Peaking and Carbon Neutrality (《關於完整準確全面貫徹新發展理念
做好碳達峰碳中和工作的意見》), which outlines key measures and approaches for achieving the country’s goal of carbon 
neutrality; and in October 2021, the State Council of the PRC released the Action Plan for Carbon Dioxide Peaking Before 
2030 (《2030年前碳達峰行動方案》), which outlines key objectives to be included in the following two Five-Year Plans to 
reach peak carbon emissions by 2030.

China’s President Xi Jinping has extended his vision in building a Beautiful China in the coming five years. Efforts must be 
made to significantly improve urban and rural living environment, support high-quality development with a high-quality 
ecological environment. Chinese government is expected to further the fight against pollution and promote carbon emissions 
peaking and carbon neutrality.  

These align with the strong focus on energy transition in the 14th Five-Year-Plan released in March 2021. The government 
has pledged to increase the non-fossil fuel share of total energy to 20% by 2025 and 80% by 2050. Other key environmental 
targets announced by the PRC government includes:

• 40% of new vehicles fuelled by new energy by 2030 (up from 13% in 2021)

• CO
2 emission per unit of GDP to drop over 65% by 2030 (vs 2005)

• CO2 emissions per unit of GDP: decrease 18% by 2025

• Good urban air quality for 87.5% of days/year by 2025

• Forest coverage rate of 24.1% by 2025
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Therefore, we expect local governments, and central or local ministries will continue to roll out sector-specific measures and 
environmental targets to support the country’s dual-carbon goals. These new measures and targets, such as new greenhouse 
gas limits, requirement to adopt renewable energy, will hold companies accountable for delivering an effective environmental 
strategies in business operations. All of these imply financial and social impact to our business and wide-scale of changes in 
operational structure.

The post-pandemic era means there are greater connectivity across regions and countries characterised by the significant 
recovery of economic activities. These will inevitably produce more greenhouse gas emissions through more air flights 
and vehicle travels. Therefore, we have reinforced our internal governance by reviewing our environmental policies from 
time to time, and minimise our environmental impacts throughout our value chain to support the above-mentioned PRC 
government’s objectives.

In future, we will proactively explore the use of clean energy when feasible, and reduce our reliance on traditional fossil 
fuel, thereby lower our indirect greenhouse gas and exhaust gas emissions. We will maintain close communication with our 
suppliers and work together to develop contingency solutions for supply chain disruption or other relevant issues. We also 
keep a watchful eye on any changes in environmental regulations while acquiring new knowledge and technology.

The Group is currently mapping out its plan and targets on reducing carbon footprint which covers water stewardship, waste 
management, as well as energy consumption, etc. In the long run, these new changes will help the Group better manage 
climate risks and improve its resilience against it.
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REPORTING ON SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practices

Employment

Quantity
Employment Data Unit 2023 2022    

Total employees no. of people 14 146    

By gender
– Male

percentage
50 88.9

– Female 50 11.1    

By employment type
– Permanent

percentage
100 100

– Full-time contracted 0 0    

By rank
– Senior executives and executives

percentage
35.7 4.7

– Others 64.3 95.3    

By age
– Below 30

percentage

14.3 12.2
– 30–39 42.9 35.6
– 40–49 35.7 35.6
– 50–59 7.1 16.6
– 60 or above 0 0    

New employees
– Male

no. of people
8 78

– Female 0 2    

Employee loss
– Male

no. of people
140 43

– Female 0 5    

Our success to build a sustainable business stems on our ability to attract, retain and motivate a highly skilled and productive 
workforce. We have invested reasonably in attracting and developing the right talent that brings valuable knowledge and 
skills to our operations. We are also dedicated to creating a work environment that encourages our employees to thrive and 
to maximise their potential.

Our employee handbook and other employee training materials set out the defining characteristics of our culture and 
business, and what we expect of our employees. They are available to all our staff members to help them grow the right, 
necessary skills to deliver what our customers need, making sure that they feel valued in their role in our company, and 
equipping them with the mindsets and skills for their career development.
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Recruitment and remuneration policies

The Group endeavours to provide a fair, safe and respectful workplace environment for our staff. The Group has formulated 
and strictly implemented a set of comprehensive human resources management system, which is in compliance with the 
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (《僱傭條例》), the Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 
of the Laws of Hong Kong) (《最低工資條例》), the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of Hong 
Kong) (《僱員補償條例》), the PRC Labour Law (《中華人民共和國勞動法》), the PRC Labour Contract Law (《中華人民共和國
勞動合同法》) and other prevailing laws and regulations.

Our recruitment programmes promote the creation of quality jobs for our existing and potential employees based on our 
business needs. We provide fair and adequate remuneration that aligns with market condition, industry standard and job 
performance for our staff members to afford a respectable standard of living.

The Group also ensure that we provide adequate employee benefits and welfare that are stipulated by the relevant laws and 
regulations, such as social insurance, mandatory provident fund and housing provident fund, as well as medical insurance 
and reasonable amount of annual leave and working hours for our employees.

Equal opportunity, inclusion and diversity

We are an equal opportunities employer and we aim to attract, recruit, develop and promote our people based on merit and 
irrespective of age, gender, sexual orientation, social background or ethnicity. Our employees have different perspectives and 
ways of working. We aim to foster diversity including ensuring a good mix and balance of gender and people from different 
background in in our workforce. We also aim to create a culture where employees feel comfortable to work in.

We do not tolerate any form of discrimination as set out in the mandatory requirements of our Code of Business Conduct 
and our Employee Handbook. We have enabled a whistle-blowing system where employees can report any discrimination or 
mistreatment at work, and the Group will pursue internal investigation and take rectifying measures.

Dismissal policy

In situations of serious employee misconduct or underperformance at an unacceptable level, our human resources 
department will follow a series of procedures to terminate his or her employment contract. Terms and conditions relating to 
dismissal are enumerated in employment contract and other employment policy manual and would be done according to the 
relevant labour laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, there was no incident of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on the Group relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest 
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and welfare.
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Health and Safety

To ensure workplace safety, we primarily aim to achieve zero work-related fatalities, reduce the number and severity of 
incidents, and learn from any incidents and near misses, so that we can continually improve our performance in this space. 
We seek to have a better and stronger understanding of how incidents and near misses happen as we carry out thorough 
investigations and subsequently take necessary actions to prevent repeat incidents and make sure that lessons learnt are 
shared across our operations.

We have formulated and will continued to refine our bespoke safety guidelines and protocols for each of our operations, 
which are based on the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (《職業安全
及健康條例》), the PRC Labour Law and other relevant laws, administrative regulations, national standards and industrial 
standards. We also stress the importance of encouraging active reporting and investing in health and safety training and 
resources.

We intend to form a “safety-first” workplace culture and look to create a closer alignment between our leadership and 
employees to develop a more safety-conscious awareness across the Group to hold everyone within our organisation 
accountable for their actions and for maintaining their health and workplace safety.

In respect of occupational injuries sustained by an employee as a result of an accident arising out of and in the course of 
employment, or occupational diseases specified in the Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong) (《僱員補償條例》) or other applicable laws, or permanent loss of earning capacity, the Group will offer 
compensation pursuant to relevant regulations, guidelines and employee agreements. The Group believes that its work 
environment and nature do not entail material safety risks to its employees.

Employee wellbeing

The pandemic has brought a heightened awareness of employees’ physical and mental wellbeing extensively into the post-
pandemic era. We continue to allow work flexibilities to our employees, including the work-from-home or hybrid mode to 
help employees with their back to normal processes. We also strengthen the communication with our employees to provide 
necessary support to their special needs during difficult times, such as health checks and awareness programmes, as well as 
adopting family-friendly policies.

During the Reporting Period, we had not experienced any material or prolonged stoppages of production due to equipment 
failure and we had not experienced any severe accidents during our production process. We have also complied with 
all relevant laws and regulations that have significant impacts on the Group relating to the provision of a safe working 
environment and the protection of our employees from occupational hazards.
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Development and Training

Quantity
Training statistics Unit 2023 2022    

Total number of employees trained no. of people 14 140    

Trained employees as a percentage of total number of employees percentage 100 95.9    

Total training hours
By gender

– Male
no. of hours

168 563
– Female 182 35    

Average training hours
By gender

– Male
no. of hours

24 4
– Female 26 3    

Total training hours
By position

– Executives
no. of hours

75 48
– Others 275 550    

Average training hours
By position

– Executives
no. of hours

15 5.3
– Others 30.5 3.9    

Delivering learning and development opportunities for our employees has always been an integral part of our business 
success. We aim to empower our employee to succeed as we foster a learning environment that has an equitable and 
fair processes for employment and progression. These learning opportunities include functional training programmes that 
encourage everyone to take control of their career development as we aim to support them to realise their potential and 
enhance their capabilities.

Our training and development programmes cover both internal and external trainings surrounding business ethics, risk and 
compliance culture, industry knowledge, regulatory requirements, operation management, and so on. We believe these 
learning programmes will help the Group build a sustainable business and the next generation of business leaders.

These training programmes are connected with our employee development and reward policies, which are designed 
to develop, motivate, reward and retain high calibre employees to deliver business success. Although participating and 
completing our training programme does not automatically guarantee immediate career progression, we offer ample 
opportunities for promotion and a significantly enhanced role, given the continued growth of the Group.
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Labour Standard

Our policy is to respect the dignity, wellbeing and human rights of our employees, the workers in our supply chain and the 
communities in which we operate. We believe acting ethically and responsibly is the right thing to do for our business. Child 
labour, forced labour and modern slavery are not acceptable in our company. We focus on addressing the root causes of 
child labour, including lack of awareness and moral poverty. We provide detailed guidelines and protocols for tackling the 
risks in our recruitment process, which is in strict compliance with the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of 
Hong Kong) and Regulations on Labour Security Supervision issued by the State Council of the PRC, and takes reference 
to international labour standards in formulating internal guidance and labour system. All recruitment procedures and 
promotions are strictly supervised by the Group’s human resources management system.

Our guidelines outline our position and what we consider as best practices, and strictly monitor all employees (including 
directors and all levels of staff) to eradicate all violations. Employees’ rights are clearly described in employee manual and 
employment contracts as they are encouraged to speak out if they are exploited or forced to work unethically against their 
will. The Group will conduct investigations, punishment or dismissal of employees who violate our policy. If necessary, the 
Group will further improve the labour mechanism against illegal behaviours.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

We aim to develop a responsible supply chain to mitigate the social and environmental issues related to the sourcing of 
service and commodities for our business use. We believe sustainability is an integral part of our sourcing and procurement 
activities. That idea extends to the products and services we purchase, contractual agreements that we enter into, and 
business partners that we work with. We strive to ensure minimum standards, such as acceptable labour conditions, 
compliance with environmental laws, and transparency related to health and safety, and data security.

Regarding household paper products, the PRC government promulgated the Safety Assessment Management System of 
Household Paper and Paper Products, Chemicals and Raw Materials (GB/T36420-2018) (《生活用紙和紙製品、化學品及原料
安全評價管理體系》) since 1 January 2019 with an aim to lay down stricter requirements on production process of household 
paper and paper products, as well as safety control of chemicals and raw materials. The Group has adopted necessary 
measures to meet relevant standards.

Procurement policy

We choose suppliers based on their business records, products and services quality, cost, after-sale services and transportation 
and other factors. We periodically invite suppliers to provide us samples for pre-assessment and our procurement department 
maintains a list of qualified suppliers which have passed our internal assessment as potential suppliers for future purchases. 

We usually do not enter into any long-term supply contracts with our suppliers, but we have been able to maintain a stable 
and long-term relationship with our major suppliers. We also ask our suppliers and business partners to take reasonable 
efforts to monitor their own supply chain and ensure that their own supply chain policies align with our supplier code to 
encourage good ESG practices. 
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For the purpose of selecting a supplier for procurement of raw materials, we typically invite our pre-assessed suppliers to 
participate in a fair, just and open tendering procedure and we assess the tenders based on their quality, price and our 
purchasing history. Once a supplier is selected after the close of a tender, we typically enter into a fair and reasonable supply 
contract with the supplier to avoid any exploitation before placing orders to procure the raw materials we require. In addition, 
provisions for environmental protection are incorporated into certain contracts, requesting contractors and/or suppliers to 
strictly observe the requirements of environmental protection. 

Other than assessing our suppliers on environmental performances, we also closely monitor the quality, cost, service 
and delivery of their products, as well as their commitments to high moral standards, when performing their contractual 
obligations. In case our suppliers fail to comply with any applicable laws and regulations or are unable to fulfill their 
contractual obligations, we will replace them and take legal actions for any related losses when necessary.

Product Responsibility

Quality-first

Our “quality-first” policy formalises how we strive to deliver defect-free products, processes and capabilities that create 
sustainable value for our brands. Our customers trust in the quality of our products and their needs are constantly evolving 
as the industry is also advancing with higher environmental and regulatory requirements. To ensure that we meet our 
customers’ needs and the changing industry trends, and maintain our good reputation within the industry, we implement 
stringent quality control management and pursue innovation with the aim to not only meet these needs but to anticipate 
them.

At the same time, our production department works closely with the quality control department throughout the production 
process to ensure each production process is carried out in accordance with the quality standard. Before we deliver our final 
products to customers, our quality control department conducts quality assessment on each batch of final products to check 
that the products have been produced in accordance with the applicable standards and approved production processes. Only 
those final products that have fulfilled all testing requirements are delivered to our customers.

We maintain an effective quality control system covering all the major production processes, from procurement of raw 
materials, operation of machineries, to proper use of materials and packaging, in order to prevent product defects and 
excessive chemicals remained in our products and excessive emission of Volatile Organic Compounds (VOC).

Customer-first

Gaining customer satisfaction is one of the most important factors in solidifying our market leadership. To maintain our 
competitive advantages, we put extensive efforts to engage with our existing and potential customers, understand their 
needs, so that we can improve our product and service quality through research and development, and produce products 
that not only suits their needs, but also create new demands in the industry.

We have also adopted a unified sales return policy which applies to all of our products and all customers. After receiving our 
products and prior to giving its final confirmation of acceptance, our customers may request us to reprocess any products 
which fail to meet their required product specifications. On the other hand, request for product return after a customer’s final 
confirmation of acceptance will only be accepted if there is any product quality issue and upon re-examination of the alleged 
defective product by our production department, quality control department and sales department.
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Privacy and intellectual property policies

We are well aware of the importance of intellectual property rights as our core production technology and critical production 
processes are crucial to our continued success and development. Any infringement of our intellectual rights may seriously 
affect our business and reputation. Therefore, we aspire to protect our patents, brand, trademark and other intellectual 
property rights and eradicate all infringement of our intellectual property rights. We also ensure that our business operation 
processes are in compliance with the Trademark Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國商標法》), the Implementation Rules of 
the PRC Patent Law (《中華人民共和國商標法實施條例》), the Contract Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國合同法》), the 
Intellectual Property Law of the PRC (《中華人民共和國知識產權法》), the Anti-unfair Competition Law (《反不正當競爭法》) 
and other relevant laws, administrative regulations, national standards and industrial standards.

We also have a privacy policy, pursuant to which all personal and corporate data must be collected in compliance with all 
relevant privacy laws. We requested our staff to protect our customers’ privacy and handle all commercially sensitive or 
confidential information in strict confidence. When cooperating with other companies, the Group enters into corresponding 
confidentiality agreements, whereby collection, use, storage and deletion of data including third-party patent technology are 
regulated, while the scope within which such confidential information can be informed of is delimited, in order to prevent 
any misuse or leaks.

Advertising and labelling

To attract clients, we carry out marketing and promotional works in an appropriate manner. We have been in compliance 
with all applicable laws and standards enacted by the government and industry associations. All promotion activities are only 
conducted upon confirmation that the requirements on the use of brand and advertising solutions of products and services 
are met, so as to avoid any misleading, inaccurate or exaggerating information. The Group will seek legal advice when 
necessary. We ensure that consumers are provided with sufficient and accurate information on our services to make informed 
choices.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact on 
the Group relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters of its products and services. There was no 
loss sustained by the Group’s customers that are caused by leaks of customers’ privacy data or other service problems; there 
was also no material complaints or damage claim from customers in respect of poor product or service quality.

Anti-corruption

Anti-corruption, extortion, fraud and money-laundering

Our Board and management lead by example to create and promote a workplace culture where ethical principles and 
business conduct are expected and encouraged. We strive to achieve the highest legal, moral and ethical standards in all of 
our corporate activities. Our commitment to anti-bribery and anti-corruption is articulated in the Group’s Code of Conduct, 
which pinpoints our whole supply chain from upstream suppliers to downstream end-customers, thereby ensuring that our 
directors and every employee clearly understand our strong stance of “zero-tolerance” against any corruption, fraudulence, 
extortion, money laundering and bribes.
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Our Code of Conduct covers anti-corruption measures about recruitment and promotion, procurement and sale, as well as 
internal audit. These measures include, but are not limited to, verification of the identity and relationship of employees to 
avoid hiring people who have close relationships with the Group’s employees and management with unreasonable clauses; 
thorough inspection of clients’ capital source to prevent money-laundering; stringent monitoring of procurement process 
to prohibit staff from taking benefits for facilitating the clients to obtain procurement contracts in a dishonest manner. 
In addition to setting up audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration committee as required by the Listing 
Rules, the Group also engages external compliance and legal advisors and auditor to ensure that the Company’s results 
announcement and other disclosures fulfill the relevant requirements.

Besides control measures to tackle malpractices, the Group also focuses on risk assessment and employee training to identify 
and mitigate potential risks of unethical conduct and law violations.

Also, all directors of the Company are provided with detailed induction training on our governance structure upon their 
appointment. In addition, they will receive regular updates on various ESG matters, such as major accounting, compliance 
and regulatory updates, as well as information on best practice in relation to anti-corruption programmes.

Whistle-blowing policy

Any stakeholders of the Group, including employees, customers and suppliers are encouraged to speak up and raise concerns 
about any violation of relevant laws and our internal Code of Conduct. We provide multiple reporting channels to report any 
wrongdoing and misconduct anonymously as we undertake to safeguard their identity. Reported issues are reviewed, verified 
and analysed by our management and designated staff, Cases in which an employee does not comply with our code of 
conduct or policies may constitute grounds for disciplinary action or termination of employment. We will also cooperate with 
regulatory authorities and law enforcement agencies to report issues that violate the anti-corruption laws. The Group will 
further improve the mechanism to safeguard against illegal behaviour when necessary.

During the Reporting Period, there was no major incident of non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that have 
a significant impact on the Group relating to corruption, bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering.

Community

Community Investment

We seek to create and contribute to social value in the communities through bringing positive social and economic benefits 
that are generated by our core business. We aspire to build meaningful long-term relationships with the communities where 
we operate in. As part of our initiatives to support the government’s objective to eradicate extreme poverty and achieve 
common prosperity, we employ local people and purchase local goods and services through our supply chains when possible. 
The Group actively explores options in coordinating charitable activities and collaborating with other organisations in different 
areas, such as education, culture, poverty relief, and so on. We aim to demonstrate positive influence of corporate values by 
raising employees’ awareness of caring for the community and mutual help.

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively engaged with different institutions in the community where we operate in 
and communicated with the local governments, so that we can participate in or organise community programmes that meet 
their needs and support their visions to create positive social impact. We hope to build the corporate culture of “lending a 
helping hand” through setting up an example by ourselves. We also encourage our staff to actively participate in community 
activities and promote the relationship between our employees and community.
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CHAIRMAN AND EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. CHEN Shuming, aged 59, is the chairman and executive Director of the Company. He is also the chairman of the 
Nomination Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee. Mr. Chen has over 29 years of experience in the 
paper manufacturing industry. Mr. Chen completed an amateur college course in agriculture economic management (業餘
大專班農業經濟管理專業) from the China Communist Party Shandong Provincial Committee Party School* (中共山東省委
黨校) in December 1997 and obtained the Credentials of Senior Operating Manager (高級經營師) certified by the National 
Credentials Committee of Senior Operating Manager (全國高級經營師評審委員會) in August 2006. From July 1984 to May 
1992, he worked at the Dongping County Foreign Trade Corporation* (東平縣外貿總公司). From May 1992 to October 
2000, he was the general manager of Shandong Province Dongping County Mingxing Paper Manufacturing Limited* (山
東省東平縣明興紙業有限責任公司). Since October 2000, he has been acting as the chairman of the board of directors of 
Dongshun Group (東順集團) (“Dongshun Group”), a company that engages in the manufacturing of household papers and 
personal hygiene products in the PRC.

Mr. Chen has been a vice commissioner (副主任委員) of the China Paper Manufacturing Association, Household Paper 
Professional Committee* (中國造紙協會生活用紙專業委員會) since 2015 and the vice president of the Shandong Province 
Paper Manufacturing Industry Association* (山東省造紙行業協會) since 2016 and the president of the Household Paper 
Industry Association since June 2019. Mr. Chen was also a committee member of the 9th, 10th and 11th Shandong Province 
Committee of the PRC Political Consultative Conference* (中國人民政治協商會議山東省政協委員) and has been appointed 
as the economic consultant of the Dongping County government (東平縣人民政府) for a consecutive of 15 years since 2009. 
He was awarded Outstanding Contributor in December 2019 by Shandong Private Entrepreneurs Union. In August 2021, Mr. 
Chen was appointed as the Honorary Chairman of the First Council of the Federation of Hong Kong Shandong Associations* 
(香港山東社團總會).

As at the date of this report, Mr. Chen is the beneficial owner of 100% of the issued share capital of Champion Alliance 
International Corporation, which in turn holds 350,000,000 Shares representing approximately 64% of the issued share 
capital of the Company.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEN Xiaolong, aged 37, is an executive Director and chief executive officer of the Group. He is the son of Mr. 
Chen Shuming and the spouse of Ms. Chen Xiaoyan. Mr. Chen Xiaolong has over 10 years of experience in the paper 
manufacturing industry. He graduated from the University of Northumbria at Newcastle, the United Kingdom, and was 
awarded a bachelor’s degree of science in sport management in June 2012.

Since July 2012, Mr. Chen Xiaolong has been working as the chief operating officer (經營總裁) at Dongshun Group, a 
company that engages in the manufacturing of household papers and personal hygiene products in the PRC.

Mr. Chen Xiaolong has been serving as the vice president of Shandong Private Entrepreneurs Association* (山東省民營企業
家協會) since 2017 and has also been a member of the Society of Entrepreneurs & Ecology (阿拉善SEE生態協會) for a term 
of one year since December 2017. He is a committee member of the 13th and 14th Taian City Committee of the PRC Political 
Consultative Conference* (中國人民政治協商會議泰安市政協委員). In December 2021, Mr. Chen Xiaolong was awarded 
the 13th “Jinan Influential”* (影響濟南) entrepreneurial figure.
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Mr. HU Enfeng, aged 60, is an executive Director and the chief financial officer of the Group. He obtained a certificate 
as an auditor conferred by the Audit Bureau of the PRC (中華人民共和國審計署) in November 1992 and further obtained 
the qualification as a senior accountant certified by Hubei Province Township Professional Technical Senior Position Review 
Committee* (湖北省鄉鎮企業專業技術高級職務評審委員會) in April 2002. He also obtained a certificate of a top-up degree 
(專升本科) course in accounting from Northeast Normal University (東北師範大學) through professional online education in 
July 2017.

From July 1988 to October 2002, Mr. Hu successively worked as the auditor (審計員), vice manager (副所長) and manager (所
長) at Hubei Henganxin Accounting Company Limited* (湖北恒安信會計師事務有限公司) (formerly known as Ying City Audit 
Firm* (應城市審計事務所)). From November 2002 to August 2004, he worked at Dongshun Group, a company that engages 
in the manufacturing of household papers and personal hygiene products in the PRC, and took up various roles, including the 
financial manager (財務部經理) and the assistant to the chairman of the board (董事長助理). From August 2004 to August 
2015, he had been working at Guangdong Jovo Energy Group Co., Ltd. (廣東九豐能源集團有限公司) with the last position 
held as the vice president (副總裁) and the general manager (總經理) of the liquefied natural gas (“LNG”) department. From 
August 2015 to December 2017, he was the president (總裁) in the area of LNG in the PRC of a group company, namely 
Pacific Oil & Gas Company Limited* (太平洋油氣有限公司). Since March 2018, he has been acting as the assistant to the 
chairman of the board (董事長助理) in Dongshun Group.

Mr. Li Aiguo, aged 45, has approximately 18 years of experience in the paper industry. He graduated from Wuhan University 
with a bachelor’s degree in law in June 2003. Mr. Li has been engaged in the household paper industry since August 2005. 
Since June 2020, he has served as the production department manager of Shandong Jiexin Paper Co., Ltd.* (山東潔昕紙
業股份有限公司) (formerly known as Dongshun Group Co., Ltd.* (東順集團股份有限公司)), a company engaged in the 
manufacturing of household paper and personal hygiene products in China. Mr. Li received the May 1st Labor Medal of 
Heilongjiang Province in May 2017 and the title of Technical Expert of Dongping County in December 2020. He obtained 
three utility model patents in the paper industry for the company from 2021 to 2022.

Mr. Chen Chen, aged 33, is the sales director of the Group’s office in Beijing. He graduated from Beijing Sport University 
in July 2012 with a bachelor’s degree in education. Mr. Chen has served as a village official for university students in Beijing 
since July 2012 and received the honour of outstanding village official for university students.

Since September 2015, he has served as sales manager and sales director respectively at Shandong Jiexin Paper Co., Ltd.* (山
東潔昕紙業股份有限公司) (formerly known as Dongshun Group Co., Ltd.* (東順集團股份有限公司)), a company engaged 
in the manufacturing of household paper and personal hygiene products in China. Mr. Chen has been the individual sales 
leader for five consecutive years, and also led his team to win the honour of outstanding team for five consecutive years.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. CHEN Hua, aged 56, is an independent non-executive Director, the chairman of the Remuneration Committee and 
a member of the Audit Committee. He has more than 32 years of experience in the field of economics and finance. He 
graduated from Southwestern University of Finance and Economics (西南財經大學), the PRC, and was awarded a bachelor’s 
degree in economics (major in statistics) in July 1989. Between July 1989 and September 2002, Mr. Chen Hua served various 
roles, including deputy chief of the sub-branch and department manager of the branch, of the Industrial and Commercial 
Bank of China. He obtained a master’s degree in science from Shandong University (山東大學), the PRC, in December 2001 
and a doctorate degree in economics from Soochow University (蘇州大學), the PRC, in June 2005. He was the professor and 
the head of the regional competitiveness assessment center (區域競爭力評價中心) of the Shandong Economics University* 
(山東經濟學院) from March 2005 to July 2007 and the vice president of the taxation and finance institute of Shandong 
Economics University* (山東經濟學院財稅金融研究所) from July 2007 to July 2009. From September 2010 to April 2013, he 
was an applied economics postdoctoral researcher at the Fiscal Science Research Institute of the Ministry of Finance of the 
PRC* (中華人民共和國財政部財政科學研究所). Since November 2014, he has been the head of the finance research institute 
of Shandong University of Finance and Economics* (山東財經大學當代金融研究所).

Mr. Chen served as a committee member of the 11th Shandong Province Committee of the PRC Political Consultative 
Conference* (中國人民政治協商會議山東省政協委員) and was appointed as a budgetary review consultant* (預算審查顧問) 
by the Shandong Province Standing Committee of National People’s Congress (山東省人大常委會) in September 2018.

From April 2015 to May 2021, Mr. Chen has been an independent non-executive director of Bank of Qingdao Co., Ltd. (H 
Shares Stock Code: 3866 and Preference Shares Stock Code: 4611), whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock 
Exchange. He is currently the independent director of Shandong State-owned Assets Investment Holdings Company Limited 
(山東省國有資產投資控股有限公司), Shandong Bocon International Port Company Limited (山東寶港國際港務股份有限公司) 
and Jining Hongrun Food Company Limited (濟寧鴻潤食品股份有限公司). From July 2021, Mr. Chen was appointed as the 
Independent director of Bank of Rizhao Co., Ltd (日照銀行股份有限公司) and Impulse (Qingdao) Health Tech Co., Ltd (青島
英派斯健康科技股份有限公司).
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Mr. ZHAO Zhendong, aged 60, is an independent non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, a member 
of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee. He has over 40 years of experience in the 
paper manufacturing industry. Mr. Zhao completed a two-year paper manufacturing program at Shandong Province Light 
Industry School* (山東省輕工業學校) in July 1984. He obtained a diploma in chemistry from Shandong Normal University (山
東師範大學) in July 1990 and an undergraduate diploma in economics from China Communist Party Central Party School 
Correspondence College* (中共中央黨校函授學院) in December 1993. Mr. Zhao also obtained the qualification as a senior 
engineer conferred by Shandong Province Light Industry Technical Position Senior Review Committee* (山東省輕工工程技術
職務高級評審委員會) in October 2002.

Between July 1984 and December 1997, Mr. Zhao worked as a technician and an assistant engineer at Shandong Paper 
Group Head Office* (山東紙業集團總公司). From January 1998 to April 2005, he served as the engineer, senior engineer 
and deputy secretary general of Shandong Province Paper Manufacturing Industry Association* (山東省造紙行業協會). 
From April 2005 to May 2020, he had been serving as the secretary general and vice president of Shandong Province Paper 
Manufacturing Industry Association* (山東省造紙行業協會). From June 2020, he was appointed as the vice president of 
Shandong Paper Association* (山東省造紙行業協會), and an executive council member (常務理事) of Shandong Papermaking 
Society* (山東造紙學會). From March 2022, he was appointed as the vice president (副理事長) of China Paper Association* (中
國造紙協會).

Mr. CHIN Chi Ho Stanley, aged 41, is an independent non-executive Director. He has over 15 years of experience in the 
areas of audit, financial management, corporate governance and operations in capital markets. Mr. Chin has obtained 
a Master of Business Administration degree from the University of Hong Kong. He was admitted as a Certified Public 
Accountant in 2009 and served as an audit specialist in PricewaterhouseCoopers and KPMG for 7 years. He has also been 
awarded the qualification of Financial Risk Manager in 2009 and Chartered Financial Analyst in 2010. Mr. Chin has extensive 
experience serving as senior management for different Hong Kong listed companies. Mr. Chin is currently the Independent 
non-executive director of Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with 
limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00618). He 
is also the independent non-executive director of CNC Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with 
limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 
08356).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. LEUNG Mei King, aged 48, has been appointed as the company secretary of the Company since October 2021. She is 
responsible for accounting and financial matters as well as company secretarial matters of the Group.

Ms. Leung holds a bachelor degree in Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. She is a member of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Ms. Leung has 
over 17 years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial management in a range of auditing firms and 
Hong Kong listed companies. She is currently the company secretary of Peking University Resources (Holdings) Company 
Limited, a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability and the issued shares of which are listed on the Main Board 
of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 00618).

* For identification purpose only
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHAMPION ALLIANCE INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 61 to 129, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows 
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material accounting 
policy information.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of 
the Group as at 31 December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s “Code 
of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Revenue recognition

The Group recognised revenue in total of RMB117,705,000 from sale of household paper products and RMB126,339,000 
from sale of steam for industrial use and heating and electricity for the year ended 31 December 2023.

We identified revenue recognition as a key audit matter because revenue is one of the key performance indicators of the 
Group and the amount of revenue for the year is significant to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

Refer to Notes 6 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements and related accounting policies in Note 4(q) to the 
consolidated financial statements.

Our response:

Our audit procedures in relation to the revenue recognition included the following:

• Obtaining an understanding of and assessing the design, implementation and operating effectiveness of key internal 
controls over revenue recognition;

• Assessing the appropriateness of the Group’s revenue recognition policy under HKFRS 15 by inspecting a sample of 
representative contracts with customers and the respective documents supporting the timing of transfer of control of 
goods;

• Assessing the existence and identity of a sample of new customers of the Group during the year by performing 
background searches on these customers; and

• Assessing whether revenue had been recognised in the appropriate accounting period and in accordance with the 
terms of the sales contracts by comparing a sample of sales transactions recorded immediately before and after the year 
end with relevant underlying documents, which included delivery notes and documentation indicating the customers’ 
acknowledgement of delivery of the goods sold.

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 were audited by another 
auditor who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 31 March 2023.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in the 
Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form 
of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, 
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. 
We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as 
a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the 
directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This 
report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose. We do 
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such 
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on 
our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine those matters that were of most significance in the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe 
these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

CCTH CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Shek Man Hei Kimmy

Practising Certificate Number: P07274

Hong Kong
28 March 2024
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Continuing operations
Revenue 7 119,652 65,188
Cost of sales (96,973) (46,939)    

Gross profit 22,679 18,249
Other income and gains and loss 8 1,366 703
Selling and distribution expenses (1,712) (3,321)
Administrative expenses (6,361) (8,728)
Impairment of trade receivables, net 23(b) – (920)
Finance costs 9 (663) (2,061)    

Profit before income tax 10 15,309 3,922
Income tax expense 13 (5,748) (3,915)    

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 9,561 7

Discontinued operations
Profit/(loss) for the year from discontinued operations 14 2,623 (13,240)    

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR 12,184 (13,233)    

Other comprehensive income/(expense):
Item that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
– Exchange differences on translation of the Company’s financial  

statements into its presentation currency 181 (5,406)
Item reclassified to profit or loss:
– Reclassification of exchange differences upon disposal of subsidiaries – 396    

Other comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 181 (5,010)    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) FOR THE YEAR 12,365 (18,243)    
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company

From continuing operations 14,610 7
From discontinued operations 2,623 (9,203)    

17,233 (9,196)    

Non-controlling interests (5,049) (4,037)    

12,184 (13,233)    

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(EXPENSE) ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
Owners of the Company 17,414 (14,206)
Non-controlling interests (5,049) (4,037)    

12,365 (18,243)    

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING AND  
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
– Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) 15 3.16 (1.68)    

EARNINGS PER SHARE FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS
– Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) 15 2.68 0.00    
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment 17 110,696 193,801
Investment properties 18 105,322 –
Right-of-use assets 19(a) – 38,988
Computer software 20 5 14
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment 24 – 3,303    

Total non-current assets 216,023 236,106    

CURRENT ASSETS
Inventories 22 56,521 47,643
Trade and bills receivables 23 40,234 1,617
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 24 23,080 4,052
Cash and cash equivalents 25 111,030 160,885    

Total current assets 230,865 214,197    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Trade payables 26 16,525 16,513
Other payables and accruals 27 37,043 41,270
Income tax payable 2,730 5,110
Other borrowings 28 19,750 –
Deferred government grants 29 524 524    

Total current liabilities 76,572 63,417    

NET CURRENT ASSETS 154,293 150,780    

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 370,316 386,886    
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables 27 13,553 27,205
Other borrowings 28 – 14,759
Deferred government grants 29 22,520 23,044    

Total non-current liabilities 36,073 65,008    

NET ASSETS 334,243 321,878    

EQUITY
Share capital 30 4,838 4,838
Reserves 31 246,380 228,966    

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 251,218 233,804
Non-controlling interests 83,025 88,074    

TOTAL EQUITY 334,243 321,878    

Chen Shuming Hu Enfeng
Director Director



65

Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2023

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
For the year ended 31 December 2023

Share
capital

Share
premium

account
Merger 
reserve

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve

PRC 
statutory 

reserve
Retained

profits

Equity 
attributable 

to owners of 
the Company

Non-
controlling 

interests Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

(Note 31(b)) (Note 31(c))

At 1 January 2022 4,838 160,113* 23,803* 4,121* 13,024* 39,797* 245,696 94,425 340,121

Loss for the year – – – – – (9,196) (9,196) (4,037) (13,233)
Other comprehensive income/(expense):

– Exchange differences on translation of the 
Company’s financial statements into its 
presentation currency – – – (5,406) – – (5,406) – (5,406)

– Reclassification of exchange differences 
upon disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) – – – 396 – – 396 – 396          

Total comprehensive loss for the year – – – (5,010) – (9,196) (14,206) (4,037) (18,243)
Disposal of subsidiaries – – 32,538 – (13,024) (19,514) – – –
Transfer to PRC statutory reserve – – – – 5,427 (5,427) – – –
Acquisition of non-controlling interests – – – – – 2,314 2,314 (2,314) –          

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 4,838 160,113* 56,341* (889)* 5,427* 7,974* 233,804 88,074 321,878
 
Profit/(loss) for the year – – – – – 17,233 17,233 (5,049) 12,184
Other comprehensive income:

– Exchange differences on translation of the 
Company’s financial statements into its 
presentation currency – – – 181 – – 181 – 181          

Total comprehensive income/(expense)  
for the year – – – 181 – 17,233 17,414 (5,049) 12,365

Transfer to PRC statutory reserve – – – – 2,882 (2,882) – – –          

At 31 December 2023 4,838 160,113* 56,341* (708)* 8,309* 22,325* 251,218 83,025 334,243          

* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of RMB246,380,000 (2022: RMB228,966,000) in the consolidated statement of financial 

position as at 31 December 2023.
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax from continuing operations 15,309 3,922
Profit/(loss) before income tax from discontinued operations 9,830 (1,158)    

25,139 2,764
Adjustments for:

Bank interest income (571) (1,117)
Other interest income 8 (886) –
Subsidy income (524) (639)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (2)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 17 19,023 20,207
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries 36 – 2,500
Finance costs 663 2,445
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 19(a) 723 1,661
Impairment of trade receivables, net 23(b) – 1,397
Depreciation of investment properties 18 171 207
Write off of property, plant and equipment 8 – 109
Amortisation of computer software 20 9 32    

Cash flows before working capital changes 43,747 29,564
Increase in inventories (9,107) (17,242)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and bills receivables (39,615) 36,281
(Increase)/decrease in prepayments, deposits and other receivables (19,363) 31,922
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables 12 (37,572)
Decrease in other payables and accruals (1,869) (16,468)
Exchange alignments 2,181 559    

Cash (used in)/generated from operations (24,014) 27,044
Income tax paid, net (15,335) (19,390)    

Net cash (used in)/generated from operating activities (39,349) 7,654    

Cash flows from investing activities
Receipts on redemptions of the financial products 198,981 –
Interest received 1,133 1,117
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash disposed 36 – (14,483)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment – (2,006)
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment – (350)
Repayment on construction cost payables (5,140) –
Payments on subscriptions of the financial products (198,981) –    

Net cash used in investing activities (4,007) (15,722)    
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2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Cash flows from financing activities 35
Decrease in amount due to a director of the former subsidiary (11,671) (3,582)
Proceeds from bank borrowings – 16,000
Repayment of bank borrowings – (8,500)
Repayment of other borrowings – (3,435)
Other interest paid – (355)
Decrease in restricted cash – 26,641
Principal portion of lease payments – (472)
Decrease in amount due to a former shareholder of a subsidiary – (20,365)
Decrease in amount due to a company controlled by a former director of  

a subsidiary – (3,900)
Proceeds from other borrowings 4,532 16,924    

Net cash (used in)/generated from financing activities (7,139) 18,956    

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (50,495) 10,888
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 160,885 149,796
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 640 201    

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 111,030 160,885    

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances 25 111,030 160,885    
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1. GENERAL

Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited liability company incorporated in the 
Cayman Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”). The registered office address of the Company is Third Floor, Century Yard, Cricket Square, P.O. Box 902, 
Grand Cayman, KY1-1103, Cayman Islands and the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong is located at 
Unit E, 22nd Floor, Tower A, Billion Centre, 1 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, is principally 
involved in the following activities:

• leasing of properties which are located in the mainland (“Mainland China”) of the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC” or “China”); and

• trading of household paper products in Mainland China.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group discontinued its business of the production and sale of steam for 
industrial use, heating and electricity in Mainland China of the PRC. Further details of this discontinued operation are 
set out in note 14.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group discontinued its business of the manufacture and sale of 
cigarette packaging materials and provision of related processing services in Mainland China. Further details of this 
discontinued operation are set out in notes 14 and 36. 

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the immediate holding company and the ultimate holding company 
of the Company is Champion Alliance International Corporation, which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands (the 
“BVI”).

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, Hong Kong 
Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and 
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the financial statements include 
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

(b) Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.

(c) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Company is Hong Kong dollars, while these consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Renminbi (“RMB”). As the management ordinarily uses RMB for management reporting purposes, 
the directors of the Company consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt RMB as the Group’s and the 
Company’s presentation currency. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand (RMB’000) except when 
otherwise indicated.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of amended HKFRSs – effective on 1 January 2023

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants has issued a number of amended HKFRSs that are first 
effective for the current accounting period of the Group:

HKFRS 17 (including the October 2020 
and February 2022 Amendments to 
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates
Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single 

Transaction
Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform – Pillar Two Model Rules
Amendments to HKAS 1 and  

HKFRS Practice Statement 2
Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Except as described below, none of these amended HKFRSs has a material impact on the Group’s results and 
financial position for the current or prior period. The Group has not early applied any new or amended HKFRSs 
that is not yet effective for the current accounting period.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Disclosure of 
Accounting Policies

The Group has applied the amendments for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial 
Statements is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting policies” with “material 
accounting policy information”. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with 
other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions 
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material because of the nature of the 
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting 
policy information relating to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity 
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information must not obscure material 
accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended to 
illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge 
whether information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and examples 
are added to the Practice Statement.

In accordance with the guidance set out in the amendments, accounting policy information that is standardised 
information, or information that only duplicates or summarises the requirements of the HKFRSs, is considered 
immaterial accounting policy information and is no longer disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial 
statements so as not to obscure the material accounting policy information disclosed in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) 
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but 
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply 
these changes on the date they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and  
HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or 
Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and related 
Amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)2

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants2

Amendments to HKAS 7 and  
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability3

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no 
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION

(a) Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries. A 
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is 
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group 
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, 
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, 
including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment 
loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and 
receivable.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the Company. The 
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to be 
consolidated until the date that such control ceases. Adjustments are made to bring into any dissimilar accounting 
policies that may exist.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributed to the shareholders of the 
Company. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are 
changes to one or more of the three elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of 
a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the 
subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative translation differences 
recorded in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the fair value of any 
investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as 
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Fair value measurement

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption 
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market for the asset 
or liability, or in the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The 
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is 
measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming 
that market participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 – based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is observable, either directly or indirectly

Level 3 – based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines 
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting 
period.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(c) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable 
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs 
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the 
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of 
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to be replaced 
at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them 
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each item of property, plant and 
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated useful lives of different categories of 
property, plant and equipment are as follows:

Plant and buildings 5 to 20 years
Machinery 5 to 20 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 to 10 years
Motor vehicles 5 to 10 years

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises direct costs of construction 
as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation of 
these costs ceases and the construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant 
and equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets for their intended use are 
completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of construction in progress until it is completed and ready 
for its intended use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, the cost of that item is 
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful 
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon 
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal 
or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Investment property

Investment property is an interest in land and building (including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use 
asset) which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to earn rental income and/or 
for capital appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative 
purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of business. Such property is stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of an investment property over its estimated 
useful life of 5 to 50 years.

Any gain or loss on the retirement or disposal of an investment property is recognised in profit or loss in the 
period of the retirement or disposal.

(e) Computer software

Computer software acquired separately is measured on initial recognition at cost. The useful life of computer 
software is assessed to be finite.

Computer software is subsequently amortised over the useful economic life of 5 years and assessed for 
impairment whenever there is an indication that an item of computer software may be impaired. The amortisation 
period and the amortisation method for computer software are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

An item of computer software is derecognised on disposal or no future economic benefits are expected from its 
use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the period the computer 
software is derecognised is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the 
relevant computer software.

(f) Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and deferred only when the Group can 
demonstrate the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset arising from the projects so that it will 
be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will 
generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources to complete the project and the ability to measure 
reliably the expenditure during the development. Product development expenditure which does not meet these 
criteria is expensed when incurred.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a 
lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its 
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an 
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the Group 
allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental 
income is accounted for on the straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included in other income in profit or 
loss. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents, if 
any, are recognised as other income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the 
lessee, are accounted for as finance leases.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 
representing the right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date of the lease (that is the date the underlying 
asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
any accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of 
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets 
are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the following depreciation periods, which are the shorter of 
the lease terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets:

Leasehold land 41 to 50 years
Office premises 2 years
Staff quarter 2 years
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

The Group’s right-of-use assets are separately presented on the face of the consolidated statement of 
financial position.

(b) Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases of plant, machinery 
and equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement 
date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis over the lease 
term.

(h) Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other 
than inventories, deferred tax assets and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs 
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are 
largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In 
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax 
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. 
An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an indication that previously 
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the 
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than goodwill is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that 
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any 
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such 
an impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are all classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently measured at amortised cost.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables that 
do not contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient of 
not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its 
fair value plus transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or for 
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under 
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset (debt instrument) to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value 
through other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and 
interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets (debt instruments) with cash flows that are 
not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets (debt instruments) refers to how it manages its 
financial assets (debt instruments) in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash 
flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets (debt instruments), or both. 
Financial assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model 
with the objective to hold financial assets (debt instruments) in order to collect contractual cash flows, while 
financial assets (debt instruments) classified and measured at fair value through other comprehensive income 
are held within a business model with the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. 
Financial assets (debt instruments) which are not held within the aforementioned business models are classified 
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject 
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or 
impaired.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Impairment

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at 
fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due 
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale 
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.

(a) General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there has not been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that 
are possible within the next 12 months (12-month ECLs). For those credit exposures for which there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses 
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (lifetime ECLs).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a 
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring 
on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-looking 
information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due. However, 
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when internal or external 
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full 
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off 
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Impairment (Continued)

(a) General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the general approach and they are 
classified within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the 
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased significantly since initial 
recognition and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month 
ECLs

Stage 2 – Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased significantly since initial 
recognition but that are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which the loss 
allowance is measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 – Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date (but that are not purchased 
or originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount 
equal to lifetime ECLs

(b) Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component or when the Group applies the 
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the 
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes 
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The 
Group has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for 
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(i) Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is 
primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

• the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

• the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay 
the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; 
and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group 
has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset. 
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred 
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group’s 
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset 
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has 
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower 
of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be 
required to repay.

(j) Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are all classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities measured at amortised cost, which 
are recognised initially at fair value and net of directly attributable transaction costs.

Subsequent measurement

After initial recognition, financial liabilities at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using 
the effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case they are 
stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance 
costs in profit or loss.
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4. SUMMARY OF MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

(j) Financial liabilities (Continued)

Derecognition

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

(k) Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

(l) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined on the weighted average 
basis and, in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises direct materials, direct labour and an 
appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any estimated 
costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

(m) Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand 
and demand deposits that are readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant 
risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less bank 
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on 
hand and at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

(n) Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event 
and it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation, provided that a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount recognised for a provision is the present value at the end 
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in 
the discounted present value amount arising from the passage of time is included in finance costs in profit or loss.
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(o) Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is 
recognised outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the 
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end 
of the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries in which 
the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary differences at the end of the reporting 
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except:

• when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, when the timing of 
the reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax 
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

• when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary differences arises from the initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

• in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax 
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will reverse in 
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available against which the temporary differences can be 
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to 
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting 
period and are recognised to the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.
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(o) Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when the 
asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to 
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities 
which intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the 
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are 
expected to be settled or recovered.

(p) Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be 
received and all attaching conditions will be complied with.

Where the grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that 
the costs, which it is intended to compensate, are expensed. Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is 
credited to a deferred income account and is released to profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant 
asset by equal annual instalments.

(q) Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is transferred to the 
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to 
which the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to the customer. The variable 
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a significant 
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty 
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.
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(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

For a contract where the period between the payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised goods 
or services is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing 
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of goods

Sale of household paper products

Revenue from the sale of household paper products is recognised at the point in time when control of the 
asset is transferred to the customer, generally on delivery of the products.

Some contracts for the sale of household paper products provide customers with volume rebates. The 
volume rebates give rise to variable consideration.

Retrospective volume rebates may be provided to certain customers once the quantity of products 
purchased during the period exceeds a threshold specified in the contract. Rebates are offset against 
amounts payable by the customer. To estimate the variable consideration for the expected future rebates, 
the most likely amount method is used for contracts with a single-volume threshold and the expected value 
method for contracts with more than one volume threshold. The selected method that best predicts the 
amount of variable consideration is primarily driven by the number of volume thresholds contained in the 
contract. The requirements on constraining estimates of variable consideration are applied and a refund 
liability for the expected future rebates is recognised.

Sale of heating

Revenue from the sale of heating is recognised over time when the heating is supplied to and consumed by 
the customers. Revenue is recognised at the stated unit price per square meter of each flat.

Sale of steam for industrial use and electricity

Revenue from the sale of steam for industrial use and electricity is recognised over time when the steam 
and electricity are supplied to and consumed by the customers. Revenue is recognised at the contractually 
stated price based on the steam and electricity consumption derived from meter readings.
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(q) Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

(a) Rental income is recognised on the straight-line basis over the lease terms.

(b) Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective interest method by applying the rate 
that exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument 
or a shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

(r) Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a 
customer before the Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue 
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to the 
customer).

(s) Employee benefits

(a) Retirement benefit schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF 
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are eligible 
to participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic 
salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF 
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those of the Group in an independently 
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest fully with the employees when contributed 
into the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland China are required to participate 
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. These subsidiaries are required 
to contribute a certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions 
are charged to profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension 
scheme.

(t) Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.
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(u) Foreign currencies

Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency and items included in the financial statements 
of each entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities 
in the Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional 
currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on settlement or 
translation of monetary items are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the 
exchange rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured. The gain or loss 
arising on translation of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition of the 
gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income or 
profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related asset, expense or income on the 
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date 
of initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-monetary 
liability arising from the advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group 
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the advance consideration.

The functional currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries is Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the 
reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the exchange rate prevailing 
at the end of the reporting period and their statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the weighted 
average exchange rate for the year. The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component 
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the cash flows of the Company and subsidiaries 
which have Hong Kong dollar as their functional currency are translated into RMB at the exchange rates ruling at 
the dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of the Company and these subsidiaries which arise 
throughout the year are translated into RMB at the weighted average exchange rate for the year.
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(v) Discontinued operation

A discontinued operation is a component of the Group’s business, the operations and cash flows of which can 
be clearly distinguished from the rest of the Group and which represents a separate major line of business or 
geographical area of operations, or is a part of a single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of 
business or geographical area of operations, or is a subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale.

Classification as a discontinued operation occurs upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be 
classified as held for sale, if earlier. It also occurs if the operation is abandoned.

Where an operation is classified as discontinued, a single amount is presented on the face of the statement of 
profit or loss, which comprises the post-tax profit or loss of the discontinued operation and post-tax gain or loss 
recognised on the measurement to fair value less costs to sell, or on the disposal, of the assets or disposal group 
constituting the discontinued operation.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors of the Company are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from 
other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are 
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following key judgements, 
estimations and assumptions, which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the consolidated 
financial statements:

(a) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of impairment for all non-financial assets (including the 
right-of-use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when there 
are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of 
an asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair value less costs 
of disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data 
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market prices less 
incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When value in use calculations are undertaken, management must 
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount 
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

(b) Useful lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the useful lives, residual values and related depreciation charges for the 
Group’s property, plant and equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual useful 
lives and residual values of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. It could change 
significantly as a result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. 
Management will increase the depreciation charge when useful lives and residual values are less than previously 
estimated, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned 
or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. Periodic review could result in a change in 
depreciable lives and therefore depreciation in the future periods.

(c) Provision for expected credit losses on trade and other receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade and other receivables, by applying ECL rates to 
different ageing groups of debtors. The ECL rate of each ageing group is determined by the Group based on the 
average of historical incurred credit loss experience on each ageing group in the past years and, where material, 
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

The Group’s historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic conditions may not be representative of 
a customer’s actual default in the future and significant management estimates are required in the estimates. 
When the actual outcome or expectation in future is different from the original estimates, such differences will 
impact on the carrying amounts of trade receivables and the amount of ECLs provided or reversed in the periods 
in which such estimates have been changed. Details of the ECLs on the Group’s trade and other receivables are 
disclosed in note 41(c) to the consolidated financial statements.

6. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business units based on their products and services and has the 
following reportable operating segments:

(a) the property leasing segment to lease out the land and buildings which are located in Mainland China;

(b) the household paper products segment trades household paper products;

(c) the new energy operation segment engages in the production and sale of steam for industrial use, heating and 
electricity in Mainland China (discontinued operation); and

(d) the cigarette packaging products segment manufactures and sells cigarette packaging products and provides 
related processing service in Mainland China (discontinued operation).
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Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions 
about resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable 
segment profit/(loss), which is a measure of adjusted profit/(loss) before income tax. The adjusted profit/(loss) before 
income tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit/(loss) before income tax except that certain bank and 
other interest income, finance costs as well as head office and corporate income and expenses are excluded from such 
measurement.

Segment revenue and results

Continuing operations Discontinued operations  

Property leasing
Household 

paper products Total
New energy 
operations

Cigarette 
packaging products Total Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue  
(note 7)

Revenue from external 
customers 1,947 – 117,705 65,188 119,652 65,188 126,339 185,469 – 83,351 126,339 268,820 245,991 334,008               

Segment results (1,698) – 22,264 12,877 20,566 12,877 8,710 47,219 – (48,251) 8,710 (1,032) 29,276 11,845               

Bank and other interest 
income 1,133 1,117

Corporate and other 
unallocated expenses (4,619) (7,753)

Finance costs (651) (2,445)               

Profit before income 
tax (continuing and 
discontinued operations) 25,139 2,764               
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Segment assets and liabilities

Segment assets and liabilities information is not disclosed as they are not regularly reviewed by the chief operating 
decision maker.

Other segment information

Continuing operations Discontinued operations  

Property leasing
Household 

paper products Total
New energy 
operations

Cigarette 
packaging products Total Total

2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation of items of 
property, plant and 
equipment
– Operating segments 3,227 – – – 3,227 – 15,796 18,483 – 1,706 15,796 20,189 19,023 20,189
– Amount unallocated – 18               

19,023 20,207               

Depreciation of investment 
properties 171 – – – 171 – – – – 207 – 207 171 207

Depreciation of right-of-
use assets
– Operating segments – – – – – – 723 868 – 280 723 1,148 723 1,148
– Amount unallocated – 513               

723 1,661               

Amortisation of computer 
software – – 9 – 9 – – 31 – 1 – 32 9 32

Impairment of trade 
receivables, net – – – 920 – 920 – 477 – – – 477 – 1,397

Capital expenditure* – – – – – – 3,146 4,074 – 261 3,146 4,335 3,146 4,335               

* Capital expenditure consists of prepayments for and additions to property, plant and equipment, and additions to right-of-use assets.
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Geographical information

No geographical information is presented as the Group’s revenue is solely derived from Mainland China and all of the 
Group’s non-current assets were located in Mainland China for both years.

Information about major customers

During the year ended 31 December 2023, one (2022: two) external customers individually contributed 10% or more 
to the Group’s total revenue for the year and the revenue generated from sales to each of these customers is set out 
below:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Discontinued operations
New energy operations segment:

Customer A 92,536 152,674

Cigarette packaging products segment:
Customer B – 49,379   

7. REVENUE

An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Continuing operations
Rental income 1,947 –
Sale of goods 117,705 65,188   

119,652 65,188   

Discontinued operations
Sale of services and goods 126,339 268,820   

245,991 334,008   
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7. REVENUE (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

Year ended 31 December 2023

Continuing operations

Discontinued 

operation  

Segments

Property

leasing

Household 

paper 

products Total

New

energy

operations Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Type of goods or services

Sale of household paper products – 117,705 117,705 – 117,705

Sale of steam for industrial use and  

heating and electricity – – – 126,339 126,339      

Total revenue from contracts with customers – 117,705 117,705 126,339 244,044      

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at point in time – 117,705 117,705 – 117,705

Goods and services transferred over time – – – 126,339 126,339      

Total revenue from contracts with customers – 117,705 117,705 126,339 244,044

Rental income 1,947 – 1,947 – 1,947      

Total revenue 1,947 117,705 119,652 126,339 245,991      
 

Geographical market

All revenue from contracts with customers were generated in Mainland China.
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Notes: (Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022 (Re-presented)

Continuing 

operation Discontinued operations  

Segments

Household 

paper 

products

New energy 

operations

Cigarette 

packaging 

products Total Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Type of goods or services

Sale of cigarette packaging products:

– Transfer metallised paper – – 78,769 78,769 78,769

– Laminated metallised paper – – 4,582 4,582 4,582      

– – 83,351 83,351 83,351

Sale of steam for industrial use and  

heating and electricity – 185,469 – 185,469 185,469

Sale of household paper products 65,188 – – – 65,188      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 65,188 185,469 83,351 268,820 334,008      

Timing of revenue recognition

Goods transferred at point in time 65,188 – 83,351 83,351 148,539

Goods and services transferred over time – 185,469 – 185,469 185,469      

Total revenue from contracts with customers 65,188 185,469 83,351 268,820 334,008      

Geographical market

All revenue from contracts with customers were generated in Mainland China.

(b) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of the cigarette packaging products and household paper products and payment is generally 

due within 30 days from delivery. Some household paper products sales contracts provide customers with volume rebates which give rise to 

variable consideration subject to constraint.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) of RMB1,102,000 (2022: 

RMB4,967,000) as at 31 December 2023 are expected to be recognised as revenue within one year. The amount disclosed does not include 

variable consideration which is constrained.
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Notes: (Continued)

(b) Performance obligations (Continued)

Sale of goods and services

The performance obligation is satisfied overtime when the heating, steam and electricity are supplied and consumed by customers. The payment is 

generally due within 30 to 150 days based on invoice date.

8. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS AND LOSS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Continuing operations
Bank interest income 320 697
Other interest income 886 –
Government grants* – 60
Other income 119 55
Exchange gain, net 41 –
Write off of property, plant and equipment – (109)   

1,366 703   

* For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group obtained government grants from the PRC government supporting the Group’s vocational skills 

training. There were no conditions to be fulfilled or contingencies related to those grants for the year.

9. FINANCE COSTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Continuing operations
Interest on bank and other borrowings 651 2,057
Interest on lease liabilities – 4
Imputed interest on rental deposit received 12 –   

663 2,061   
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10. PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

The Group’s profit before income tax is arrived at after charging:

2023 2022
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Continuing operations
Cost of inventories sold 93,241 46,931

Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment 3,227 18
Less: Amount included in cost of inventories sold (3,227) –    

– 18    

Depreciation of investment properties 171 –
Amortisation of computer software* 9 –
Lease payments not included in the measurement of lease liabilities* 19(c) 40 70

Auditor’s remuneration*
– annual audit 1,080 1,250
– other services 40 94    

1,120 1,344    

Impairment of trade receivables, net – 920

Employee benefit expenses^ (excluding directors’  
remuneration (note 11)):
– Salaries, bonus and benefits in kind 2,599 8,114
– Retirement benefit scheme contributions 215 930    

2,814 9,044    

* This item is included in “Administrative expenses” on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

^ During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022, no contribution was forfeited (by the Group on behalf of its employees who leave 

the scheme prior to vesting fully in such contributions) under the retirement benefit schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce the 

contribution payable in the future years. Accordingly, no forfeited contribution was utilised during the years ended at 31 December 2023 and 

2022. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, there was no forfeited contribution available to reduce the Group’s future level of contribution to the 

retirement benefit schemes.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to The Rules Governing The Listing of Securities on the Stock 
Exchange, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies 
(Disclosure of Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 1,437 2,212

Other emoluments:
Retirement benefit schemes 16 49   

1,453 2,261   

An analysis of the directors’ remuneration, on a named basis, is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Defined 
contribution 

scheme 
contributions

Share-based 
compensation 

expense
Total 

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors
Mr. Chen Shuming – – – – –
Mr. Chen Xiaolong 560 – 16 – 576
Ms. Chen Xiaoyan1 218 – – – 218
Mr. Hu Enfeng 352 – – – 352
Mr. Zhang Shihua2 54 – – – 54
Mr. Li Aiguo3 – – – – –
Mr. Chen Chen3 – – – – –      

1,184 – 16 – 1,200      

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Hua 54 – – – 54
Mr. Zhao Zhendong 54 – – – 54
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley 145 – – – 145      

253 – – – 253      

1,437 – 16 – 1,453      

1 Ms. Chen Xiaoyan resigned as an executive director on 28 June 2023.
2 Mr. Zhang Shihua resigned as an executive director on 29 December 2023.
3 Mr. Li Aiguo and Mr. Chen Chen was appointed as an executive director on 29 December 2023.
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11. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Fees

Salaries, 
allowances 

and benefits 
in kind

Defined 
contribution 

scheme 
contributions

Share-based 
compensation 

expense
Total 

remuneration
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive directors
Mr. Chen Shuming – – – – –
Mr. Chen Xiaolong 747 – 32 – 779
Ms. Chen Xiaoyan1 508 – 17 – 525
Mr. Hu Enfeng 492 – – – 492
Ms. Wu Cheuk Yan2 172 – – – 172
Mr. Zhang Shihua3 52 – – – 52      

1,971 – 49 – 2,020      

Independent non-executive directors
Mr. Chen Hua 52 – – – 52
Mr. Zhao Zhendong 52 – – – 52
Mr. Chin Chi Ho Stanley 137 – – – 137      

241 – – – 241      

2,212 – 49 – 2,261      

1 Ms. Chen Xiaoyan resigned as an executive director on 28 June 2023.
2 Ms. Wu Cheuk Yan resigned as an executive director on 1 May 2022.
3 Mr. Zhang Shihua resigned as an executive director on 29 December 2023.

Fees, salaries, allowances and benefits in kind paid to or for the executive directors of the Company are generally 
emoluments paid or receivable in respect of those persons’ other services in connection with the management of the 
affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries.

12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group, four (2022: three) were directors of the Company 
whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in note 11 above. The emolument of the remaining one (2022: two) 
individual was as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 184 928
Retirement benefit schemes – –   

184 928   
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12. FIVE HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS (Continued)

The number of non-director highest paid individuals whose remuneration fell within the following band is as follows:

Number of employees
2023 2022

Nil to HK$1,000,000 (equivalent to Nil to RMB859,000) 1 2   

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the five highest paid individuals of the Company as (i) bonuses 
which are discretionary or based on the performance of the Company, the Group or any member of the Group; (ii) an 
inducement to join or upon joining the Group; or (iii) compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31 December 
2023 and 2022.

13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

An analysis of the Group’s income tax expense is as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Current tax – Mainland China:
– tax for the year 10,704 15,920
– under-provision in respect of prior years 2,251 77   

Income tax expense 12,955 15,997   

Income tax expense attributable to:
Continuing operations 5,748 3,915
Discontinued operations 7,207 12,082   

Income tax expense 12,955 15,997   

No tax impact arising from the loss on disposal of subsidiaries related to the discontinued operation during the year 
ended 31 December 2022.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the year ended 31 December 2023 as the Group did not 
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during the year (2022: Nil). 

Taxes on profits assessable in Mainland China have been calculated at the applicable tax rate of 25% on the estimated 
assessable profits for the year, based on the prevailing legislation, interpretations and practices in respect thereof.
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13. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax expense for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) before 
income tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Profit/(loss) before income tax:
Continuing operations 15,309 3,922
Discontinued operations 9,830 (1,158)   

25,139 2,764   

Tax expense at the statutory tax rates 6,734 1,587
Additional tax deduction on research and development expenses – (494)
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax purposes (346) (815)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 900 7,055
Under-provision of income tax expense in respect of prior years 2,251 77
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,416 8,587   

Income tax expense 12,955 15,997   
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS

(a) On 6 November 2023, one of the Company’s subsidiaries entered into a lease agreement with an independent 
third party to lease the plant and buildings, machinery and leasehold land which associated with the new energy 
business (the “Lease Agreement”). The handover of the plant and buildings, machinery and leasehold land was 
completed on 15 November 2023. Since the Group does not have any significant continuing involvement in the 
new energy business, and the new energy business represented a separate major business line of the Group’s 
operations. The directors of the Company are in view of that the new energy business has been abandoned and 
discontinued as of the commencement date of the Lease Agreement.

The result of the discontinued operation for the relevant periods are presented below:

Period from
1 January 2023

to 
15 November 

2023

Year ended 
31 December 

2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue (Note) 126,339 185,469
Cost of sales (118,942) (134,767)   

Gross profit 7,397 50,702
Other income and gains and loss 4,861 778
Expenses (2,428) (4,261)   

Profit before income tax 9,830 47,219
Income tax expense (7,207) (12,039)   

Profit for the period/year from discontinued operation 2,623 35,180   

Net cashflows of a discontinued operation:
Operating cash (outflows)/inflows (50,370) 8,804
Investing cash outflows – (2,356)
Financing cash outflows – (475)   

(50,370) 5,973   

Profit before taxation has been arrived after charging:

Period from
1 January 2023

to 
15 November 

2023

Year ended 
31 December 

2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15,796 18,483
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 723 868   
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Note:

Period from
1 January 2023

to 15 November 
2023

Year ended 
31 December 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Timing of revenue recognition
Over time 126,339 185,469   

For the purpose of presenting the discontinued operation, the comparative consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income and the related notes have been re-presented as if the operation discontinued during the year had been discontinued at the beginning of 
the comparative period.

(b) During the year 31 December 2022, the Group disposed of its 100% equity interest in Lucky Glorious Limited 
and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Disposal Group”). The Disposal Group engages in the production and sale of 
metallised packaging paper and provision of related processing services for cigarette package manufacturers. The 
Group decided to cease its cigarette packaging business in view of the structural reform of the tobacco market in 
China that may continue weakening the performance of the Group’s cigarette packaging business. The disposal 
was completed on 14 October 2022 and consequently, this operation has been discontinued.

The results of Disposal Group for the relevant periods are presented below:

Period from 
1 January 2022 

to 14 October 
2022

RMB’000

Revenue (Note) 83,351
Cost of sales (78,988)  

Gross profit 4,363
Other income and gains 2,931
Expenses* (52,787)
Finance costs (384)  

Loss before income tax (45,877)
Income tax expense (43)  

(45,920)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (2,500)  

Loss for the year from discontinued operation (48,420)  

Net cashflows of a discontinued operation:
Operating cash outflows (12,883)
Investing cash outflows (263)
Financing cash inflows 10,124  
  

(3,022)  

*  Included in the expenses for the period from 1 January 2022 to 14 October 2022 was write off of inventories of approximately 
RMB31,200,000. Such write off arose from damage of inventories caused by flooding at the warehouse prior to the disposal of the 
Disposal Group.
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14. DISCONTINUED OPERATION (Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Loss before taxation has been arrived after charging:

Period from 
1 January 2022 

to 14 October 
2022

RMB’000

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,706
Depreciation of an investment property 207
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 280
Interest on lease liabilities 1  

Note:

Period from 

1 January 2022 to 

14 October 2022

RMB’000

Timing of revenue recognition

At a point in time 83,351  
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15. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE

Continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share attributable to the owners of Company is based on:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

(Re-presented)

Earnings/(loss)
Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to owners of the Company

From continuing operations 14,610 7
From discontinued operations 2,623 (9,203)   

17,233 (9,196)   

Number of shares 2023 2022

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 546,092,537 546,092,537   

2023 2022
RMB cents RMB cents

Earnings/(loss) per share from continuing and discontinued operations
– Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) 3.16 (1.68)   

Earnings per share from continuing operations
– Basic and diluted (RMB cents per share) 2.68 0.00   

Discontinued operations

Basic and diluted earnings per share from the discontinued operations is RMB0.48 cents per share (2022: Basic and 
diluted loss per share RMB1.69 cents per share), based on profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 from the 
discontinued operations.

Diluted earnings per share amount was the same as basic earnings per share amount as there were no potential dilutive 
ordinary shares outstanding for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

16. DIVIDEND

The board of directors does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: 
Nil).
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Year ended 31 December 2023

Plant and 
buildings Machinery

Furniture 
and fixtures

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023:
Cost 64,566 143,204 280 53 7,184 215,287
Accumulated depreciation (3,510) (17,841) (121) (14) – (21,486)       

Net carrying amount 61,056 125,363 159 39 7,184 193,801       

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2023 61,056 125,363 159 39 7,184 193,801
Additions – 3,146 – – – 3,146
Transfer 7,184 – – – (7,184) –
Depreciation provided during the year (1,012) (18,000) – (11) – (19,023)
Transfer to investment properties  

(note 18) (67,228) – – – – (67,228)       

At 31 December 2023 – 110,509 159 28 – 110,696       

At 31 December 2023:
Cost 4,548 146,350 280 53 – 151,231
Accumulated depreciation (4,548) (35,841) (121) (25) – (40,535)       

Net carrying amount – 110,509 159 28 – 110,696       
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17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Year ended 31 December 2022

Plant and 
buildings Machinery

Furniture 
and fixtures

Motor 
vehicles

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022:
Cost 94,401 157,614 2,767 3,521 8,000 266,303
Accumulated depreciation (14,838) (16,963) (2,328) (1,857) – (35,986)       

Net carrying amount 79,563 140,651 439 1,664 8,000 230,317       

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January 2022 79,563 140,651 439 1,664 8,000 230,317
Additions – 1,316 262 – 2,407 3,985
Disposals – (321) (1) – – (322)
Transfer 2,462 761 – – (3,223) –
Depreciation provided during the year (4,186) (15,483) (391) (147) – (20,207)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (16,783) (1,561) (49) (1,478) – (19,871)
Write off – – (109) – – (109)
Exchange adjustment – – 8 – – 8       

At 31 December 2022 61,056 125,363 159 39 7,184 193,801       

At 31 December 2022:
Cost 64,566 143,204 280 53 7,184 215,287
Accumulated depreciation (3,510) (17,841) (121) (14) – (21,486)       

Net carrying amount 61,056 125,363 159 39 7,184 193,801       

Note: During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s pledged plant and buildings were disposed through disposal of the Disposal Group (note 

36). As at 31 December 2022, the Group did not pledge any property, plant and equipment.
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January:
Cost – 6,618
Accumulated depreciation – (2,532)   

Net carrying amount – 4,086

Net carrying amount:
At 1 January – 4,086
Transfer from plant and buildings (note 17) 67,228 –
Transfer from right-of-use assets (note 19(a)) 38,265 –
Depreciation provided during the year (171) (207)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) – (3,879)   

At 31 December 105,322 –   

At 31 December
Cost 105,493 –
Accumulated depreciation (171) –   

Net carrying amount 105,322 –   

Pursuant to the Lease Agreement dated on 6 November 2023, the Group leased the plant and buildings, machinery 
and leasehold land which located in Shandong province, the PRC for rental income. The plant and buildings and 
leasehold land were reclassified as investment properties upon the handover date on 15 November 2023. The fair value 
of investment properties and the machinery being leased out as at 31 December 2023 were RMB238,010,000, which 
had been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that date by an independent professional qualified valuer 
using the direct comparison method or residual method. In estimating the fair value of properties, the highest and best 
use of properties is their current use. The valuation was arrived at by reference to comparable market transactions for 
similar properties. The fair value measurement of the Group’s investment property is using significant unobservable 
inputs (Level 3) as defined in HKFRS 13.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group’s investment property was a portion of the Group’s staff quarter 
and disposed through disposal of the Disposal Group (note 36).
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19. LEASES

The Group as a lessor

As at 31 December 2023, the Group leases its investment properties (note 18) in Shandong province (2022: Hubei 
province), the PRC under an operating lease arrangement. Rental income recognised by the Group during the year was 
RMB1,947,000 (2022: RMB739,000).

At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the Group in future periods under the non-
cancellable operating lease with its tenant are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Within one year 13,200 –
After one year but within two years 13,596 –
After two year but within five years 14,004 –   

Total 40,800 –   

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group disposed its investment property through disposal of the Disposal 
Group (note 36).

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease arrangements as a lessee for various items of land, office premises, plant and equipment and staff 
quarter.

Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners with lease periods of 
50 years (2022: 50 years), and no ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of office 
premises and staff quarter have a lease term of 2 years respectively. Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning 
and subleasing the leased assets outside the Group. Such leases of office premises and staff quarter were expired as at 
31 December 2022.
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19. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the movements during the year are as follows:

Leasehold 
land

Office 
premises

Staff 
quarter Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 50,244 28 486 50,758
Depreciation provided during the year (1,120) (29) (512) (1,661)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) (10,136) – – (10,136)
Exchange adjustments – 1 26 27     

At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 
2023 38,988 – – 38,988

Depreciation provided during the year (723) – – (723)
Transfer to investment properties  

(note 18) (38,265) – – (38,265)     

At 31 December 2023 – – – –     
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19. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of the Group’s lease liabilities and the movements during the year are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January – 449
Interest expenses – 4
Lease payments – (476)
Exchange adjustments – 23   

At 31 December – –   

(c) Other lease information

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on lease liabilities – 4
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 723 1,661
Expense relating to short-term leases 40 70   

Total amount recognised in profit or loss 763 1,735   
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20. COMPUTER SOFTWARE

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 14 47
Amortisation provided during the year (9) (32)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) – (1)   

At 31 December 5 14   

21. DEFERRED TAX

(a) Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign 
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in Mainland China. A lower withholding tax rate 
may be applied if there is a tax treaty between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. 
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those subsidiaries established in 
Mainland China.

At 31 December 2023 and 2022, no deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would be 
payable on the unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group’s subsidiaries established 
in Mainland China. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute such 
earnings in the foreseeable future. As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised 
amounted to RMB175,467,000 (2022: RMB122,862,000).

(b) As at 31 December 2023, the Group has tax losses arising from subsidiaries operated in Mainland China of 
RMB22,219,000 (2022: RMB10,937,000) which are available for offsetting against future taxable profits of these 
subsidiaries for a period of five years. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these losses 
as the future profitability of the subsidiaries from which these tax losses arose is not assured and hence it is not 
considered probable that taxable profits will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
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22. INVENTORIES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Raw materials – 47,643
Finished goods 56,521 –   

56,521 47,643   

23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade receivables 41,631 2,521
Less: Impairment (note (b)) (1,397) (1,397)   

Trade receivables – net 40,234 1,124
Bills receivables – 493   

40,234 1,617   

Notes:

(a) The Group’s trading terms with its customers for the sale of goods and provision of processing services are mainly on credit. For new customers, 

payment in advance is normally required. The credit period is generally 30 days for customers of household paper products and 30 to 150 days for 

customers of new energy operations. Each customer has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding 

receivables to minimise the credit risk. Overdue balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the aforementioned and the 

fact that the Group’s trade receivables relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no significant concentration of credit risk. The 

Group does not hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of impairment, is as 

follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 447 1,043

1 to 2 months 9 554

2 to 3 months 8 3

3 to 4 months 9 3

Over 4 months 39,761 14   

40,234 1,617   
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23. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) The movement in provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 1,397 14,267

Impairment recognised, net – 1,397

Amount written off as a result of disposal of subsidiaries – (14,267)   

At 31 December 1,397 1,397   

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The provision rates are 

based on the average of historical incurred credit loss experience on each ageing group of trade receivables. Generally, trade receivables are 

written off if they are not considered recoverable by the Group and are not subject to enforcement activity.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

Past due 

Current
Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

Over 3 
months Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Category:
(i) Customers with good credit 447 9 17 41,158 41,631
Less: Expected credit losses – – – (1,397) (1,397)      

Net trade receivables 447 9 17 39,761 40,234      

ECL rate – – – 3.4% 3.4%      

As at 31 December 2022

Past due 

Current
Less than 
1 month

1 to 3 
months

Over 3 
months Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Category:
(i) Customers with good credit 1,047 1,030 12 925 3,014
Less: Expected credit losses (4) (476) (6) (911) (1,397)      

Net trade receivables 1,043 554 6 14 1,617      

ECL rate 0.4% 46.2% 50.0% 98.5% 46.4%      
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24. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Deposits and other receivables 2,125 1,089
Prepayments 1,384 5,913
Value added tax recoverable 19,571 353   

23,080 7,355
Less: Prepayments for the acquisition of property, plant and equipment  

  classified as non-current assets – (3,303)   

23,080 4,052   

Note: The financial assets included in the above balances relate to receivables for which there was no recent history of default. At 31 December 2023 

and 2022, the loss allowance was assessed to be minimal.

25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash and bank balances 111,030 160,885   

Notes:

(a) At 31 December 2023, the cash and bank balances of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to RMB105,256,000 (2022: RMB156,758,000). 

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and 

Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies 

through banks authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

(b) Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy banks with no 

recent history of default.
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26. TRADE PAYABLES

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade payables (Note) 16,525 16,513   

Note:

The trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms.

An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within 1 month 7,037 4,892

1 to 2 months – 1,502

2 to 3 months – 14

Over 3 months 9,488 10,105   

16,525 16,513   
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27. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Contract liabilities (a) 1,102 4,967
Refund liabilities 2,370 2,309
Rental deposit received 1,888 –
Interest payables of other borrowings 833 174
Amounts due to directors (b) 190 190
Amount due to a former shareholder of a subsidiary (c) 11,665 23,336
Other payables to contractors (d) – 5,140
Other payables (e) 10,619 25,909
VAT payables 19,516 4,080
Accruals 2,413 2,370    

Total other payables and accruals 50,596 68,475

Less: Non-current portion (13,553) (27,205)    

Current portion 37,043 41,270    

Movements in contract liabilities are as follows:

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 4,967 23,478
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of recognising revenue during the year 

that was included in the contract liabilities at beginning of year (4,967) (23,478)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of receiving deposits 1,102 4,967   

As at 31 December 1,102 4,967   
 
Notes:

(a) Contract liabilities as at 31 December 2023 represented advance payments received from customers for the sale of household paper products 
which will be recognised as revenue as the performance obligation is satisfied (2022: represented advance payments received from customers for 
the sale of steam, heating and household paper products).

(b) The amounts due to directors are unsecured, interest-free and no fixed terms of repayment.

(c) The amount due to a former shareholder classified as a non-current liability is unsecured, interest-free and the former shareholder has agreed not 
to demand repayment of such amount up to 31 December 2024.

(d) The balance as at 31 December 2022 represented construction costs payable to contractors of which had been paid during the year ended 31 
December 2023.

(e) As at 31 December 2023, other payables mainly related to utility and transportation with amounts of approximately RMB8,419,000 (2022: 
RMB17,851,000). The amount was unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.
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28. OTHER BORROWINGS

2023 2022  
Interest 
rate per 
annum Maturity Total

Interest 
rate per 
annum Maturity Total

(%) RMB’000 (%) RMB’000

Other borrowings repayable  
upon maturity:

Other loans – unsecured (Note) 3.00 2024 19,750 3.00 2024 14,759       

Note:

The Group’s borrowed loans in the total principal amount of HK$26,650,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB19,750,000) (2022: HK$16,650,000 

(equivalent to approximately RMB14,759,000)) from an independent third party as at 31 December 2023. The loans are unsecured, bear interest at 3% 

per annum and repayable by 30 April 2024.

29. DEFERRED GOVERNMENT GRANTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

As at 1 January 23,568 24,743
Amortisation provided for the year (524) (639)
Disposal of subsidiaries (note 36) – (536)   

As at 31 December 23,044 23,568   

Current liabilities 524 524
Non-current liabilities 22,520 23,044   

23,044 23,568   

The balance as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 included in subsidiaries received from varies government authorities 
in Mainland China for the purchase of land to support the development of the new energy separation business of the 
Group.

The subsidies are interest-free and will be amortised over the expected useful lives of the relevant assets in accordance 
with the Group’s accounting policy set out in note 4(p) to these financial statements.
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30. SHARE CAPITAL

2023 2022

Number HK$’000
RMB’000

equivalent Number HK$’000
RMB’000

equivalent

Authorised:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each 1,000,000,000 10,000 1,000,000,000 10,000

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each
At the beginning and the end of the year 546,092,537 5,461 4,838 546,092,537 5,461 4,838       

31. RESERVES

The Group

(a) The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the current and prior years are presented in 
the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

(b) The merger reserve represents the difference between (i) the amounts at which the assets and liabilities are 
recorded under a business combination under common control in prior years, net of any reserves of the acquired 
entities; and (ii) the fair value of consideration paid for the business combination.

(c) The PRC statutory reserve is the reserve set aside in accordance with the PRC Companies Law as applicable to the 
Group’s subsidiaries established in Mainland China. None of the Group’s PRC statutory reserve as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022 was distributable in the form of cash dividends.

The Company

Share 
premium 

account
Contributed 

surplus

Exchange 
fluctuation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 160,113 56,341 3,108 (72,015) 147,547
Loss for the year – – – (6,485) (6,485)
Other comprehensive income – – 7,708 – 7,708      

At 31 December 2022 and  
1 January 2023 160,113 56,341 10,816 (78,500) 148,770

Loss for the year – – – (6,201) (6,201)
Other comprehensive income – – 2,673 – 2,673      

At 31 December 2023 160,113 56,341 13,489 (84,701) 145,242      
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32. HOLDING COMPANY’S STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Investments in subsidiaries 33 60,764 60,764
Amounts due from subsidiaries 123,570 120,861    

Total non-current assets 184,334 181,625    

CURRENT ASSETS
Prepayments and other receivables – 186
Cash and bank balances 5,415 3,912    

Total current assets 5,415 4,098    

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other payables and accruals 3,026 1,402
Amounts due to subsidiaries 16,893 15,781
Other borrowings 28 19,750 –    

Total current liabilities 39,669 17,183    

NET CURRENT LIABILITIES (34,254) (16,774)    

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Other borrowings 28 – 14,759
Interest payables – 173    

Total non-current liabilities – 14,932    

NET ASSETS 150,080 153,608    

EQUITY
Share capital 30 4,838 4,838
Reserves 31 145,242 148,770    

Total equity 150,080 153,608    
 
On behalf of the Board
 

Chen Shuming Hu Enfeng
Director Director
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33. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries, which are all indirectly held by the Company, as at 31 December 
2023 and 2022 are as follows:

Name of subsidiaries
Place of registration/
operations Paid up capital

Percentage of equity 
attributable to the 

Company
Principal activities2023 2022

冠均華盈（山東）新能源 
有限公司* (“Shandong 
New Energy”)

PRC/Mainland China – 100% 100% Production and sale of steam 
for industrial use and 
heating and electricity

冠均（山東）貿易 
有限公司*

PRC/Mainland China – 100% 100% Trading of household paper 
products

冠均（濟南）日用品 
有限公司#

PRC/Mainland China – 100% 100% Trading of household paper 
and hygiene products

中煤東能（山東）清潔能源 
有限公司@ (“China Coal”)

PRC/Mainland China RMB110,000,000 51% 51% Leasing

* These entities are registered as limited liability companies under PRC Law and each of them has a registered capital of RMB50,000,000 which 

should be fully paid up by 31 December 2030. At the date of approval of these financial statements, no capital has been paid up for each of these 

entities.

# This entity is registered as a limited liability companies under PRC Law and has a registered capital of RMB10,000,000 which should be fully paid 

up by 24 September 2029. At the date of approval of these financial statements, no capital has been paid up for the entity.

@ This entity is registered as a limited liability companies under PRC Law and has a registered capital of RMB200,000,000 which should be fully paid 

up by 31 December 2050. At the date of approval of these financial statements, RMB110,000,000 has been paid up for the entity.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the 
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries 
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
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34. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, China Coal, a 51% (31 December 2022: 51%) owned subsidiary of the Company, 
has material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). The NCI of another subsidiary that is not 100% owned by the Group is 
considered to be immaterial.

Summarised financial information in relation to China Coal, before intra-group eliminations, is presented below 
together with amounts attributable to NCI:

For the year ended
31 December
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 10,922 12,110
Loss for the year (9,628) (9,247)
Total comprehensive expense (9,628) (9,247)
Loss allocated to NCI (4,804) (4,646)   

Dividend paid to NCI – –   

Cash flows from operating activities 2,353 10,762
Cash flows from investing activities 6 (7,437)
Cash flows from financing activities – (3,861)   

Net cash inflows/(outflows) 2,359 (536)   

As at 31 December 
2023 2022

RMB’000 RMB’000

Non-current assets 198,452 236,092
Current assets 4,249 5,025
Current liabilities (28,329) (11,009)
Non-current liabilities (22,520) (50,076)
Accumulated NCI (82,872) (88,074)   
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities

Included in other payables and accruals 
Amount 
due to a 

former 
shareholder 

of a 
subsidiary

Interest 
payables of 

other 
borrowings

Other 
borrowings Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2023 23,336 174 14,759 38,269

Changes from cash flows:
Decrease in amount due to a former  

shareholder of a subsidiary (11,671) – – (11,671)
Proceeds from other borrowings – – 4,532 4,532     

Total changes from financing cash flows (11,671) – 4,532 (7,139)     

Exchange alignments – 8 459 467

Other change:
Interests on other borrowings – 651 – 651     

Total other change – 651 – 651     

At 31 December 2023 11,665 833 19,750 32,248     
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35. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (Continued)

Included in other payables and accruals 

Amount 
due to the 

ultimate 
holding 

company

Amount 
due to a 

company 
controlled 

by a former
director of 

a subsidiary

Amount 
due to a 

director of 
the former
 subsidiary

Amount 
due to a 

former 
shareholder 

of a 
subsidiary

Interest 
payables 
of other 

borrowings

Bank 
and other 

borrowings
Lease 

liabilities Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 1 January 2022 1,198 3,900 4,512 43,701 8,812 41,136 449 103,708

Changes from cash flows:
Decrease in amount due to a company 

controlled by a subsidiary’s director – (3,900) – – – – – (3,900)
Decrease in amount due to a director of the 

former subsidiary – – (3,582) – – – – (3,582)
Decrease in amount due to a former 

shareholder of a subsidiary – – – (20,365) – – – (20,365)
Proceeds from bank borrowings – – – – – 16,000 – 16,000
Proceeds from other borrowings – – – – – 16,924 – 16,924
Repayment of bank borrowings – – – – – (8,500) – (8,500)
Repayment of other borrowings – – – – – (3,435) – (3,435)
Interest paid – – – – – (351) (4) (355)
Principal portion of lease payments – – – – – – (472) (472)         

Total changes from financing cash flows – (3,900) (3,582) (20,365) – 20,638 (476) (7,685)         

Exchange adjustments 13 – 315 – 470 2,347 23 3,168

Other changes:
Disposal of subsidiaries (1,211) – (1,245) – (34) (18,796) – (21,286)
Interest on bank borrowings – – – – – 351 – 351
Interest on other borrowings – – – – 2,090 – – 2,090
Interest on lease liabilities – – – – – – 4 4
Principal amount of other borrowings and total 

accrued interest assumed by the purchaser 
of the Disposal Group (note 36) – – – – (11,164) (30,917) – (42,081)         

Total other changes (1,211) – (1,245) – (9,108) (49,362) 4 (60,922)         

At 31 December 2022 – – – 23,336 174 14,759 – 38,269         
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 5 August 2022, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) with an independent 
third-party purchaser (the “Purchaser”) to dispose of its 100% equity interest of the Disposal Group for a consideration 
of HK$49,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB42,081,000). Pursuant to the Agreement, the consideration shall 
be settled by the Purchaser by entering into the deed of novation with the Company and the lender of the Loan (the 
“Lender”) upon completion of this disposal (the “Deed of Novation”). The disposal was duly completed on 14 October 
2022 (the “Completion Date”).

As at the date of the Agreement, the total outstanding amount of the Loan was in the amount of approximately 
HK$53,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB45,516,000), being the principal amount of the Loan of 
HK$40,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB34,352,000) and total accrued interest of approximately 
HK$13,000,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB11,164,000). As the total outstanding amount of the Loan as at 
the date of the Agreement was more than the said consideration, the Company undertook to the Purchaser under 
the Agreement to settle part of the outstanding principal amount of HK$4,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
RMB3,435,000) to the Lender. The remaining outstanding principal amount of the Loan of HK$36,000,000 
(equivalent to approximately RMB30,917,000) and all accrued interest of approximately HK$13,000,000 (equivalent 
to approximately RMB11,164,000) will be assumed and satisfied by the Purchaser pursuant to the Deed of Novation 
signed on the Completion Date.
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36. DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

This disposal transaction constituted a major transaction of the Company under Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules. Further 
details of this transaction were set out in the Company’s circular dated 23 September 2022. 

2022
RMB’000

Net assets disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment 19,871
Investment property 3,879
Right-of-use assets 10,136
Computer software 1
Inventories 33,650
Trade and bills receivables 54,084
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables 5,879
Restricted cash 9,946
Cash and cash equivalents 4,537
Trade and bills payables (71,806)
Other payables and accruals (6,660)
Bank and other borrowings (18,796)
Deferred government grants (536)
Cumulative exchange differences reclassified from equity to profit or loss 396  

44,581  

Consideration of the disposal 42,081
Net assets of subsidiaries disposed of (44,581)  

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries (note 14) (2,500)  

An analysis of cash flows in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries:
Total cash consideration 42,081
Settled by the liabilities in respect of the Loan assumed by the Purchaser (42,081)
Restricted cash disposed of (9,946)
Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (4,537)  

Cash outflow from investing activities (14,483)  
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had no other material transactions and 
outstanding balances with related parties during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022 or as at these 
dates.

(b) Compensation of key management

Remuneration of key management personnel, who are directors of the Company, during the year were disclosed 
in note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

38. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.

39. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

2023 2022
RMB’000 RMB’000

Commitments for the acquisition of:   
– Property, plant and equipment 61 1,028   

40. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

All financial assets and liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are classified as financial assets and 
liabilities at amortised cost, respectively.



126

Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2023

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 December 2023

41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise other borrowings and cash and bank balances. The main purpose 
of these financial instruments is to finance the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial instruments 
such as trade and bills receivables and trade payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are (a) interest rate risk; (b) foreign currency risk; (c) credit 
risk; and (d) liquidity risk. The Group does not have any written risk management policies and guidelines. However, the 
board of directors meets periodically to analyse and formulate measures to manage the Group’s exposure to these risks. 
Generally, the Group introduces conservative strategies on its risk management. As the Group’s exposure to these risks is 
kept to a minimum, the Group has minimal use of derivatives and other instruments for trading purposes. The board of 
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised as follows:

(a) Interest rate risk

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s cash at banks 
with floating interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2022: 100 basis point) higher/lower and all other variables were held 
constant, the Group’s profit before income tax for the year ended 31 December 2023 would have increased/
decreased by RMB111,000 (2022: profit before income tax increased/decreased by RMB148,000).

(b) Foreign currency risk

Currency risk to the Group is minimal as most of the Group’s transactions are carried in RMB.

(c) Credit risk

As at 31 December 2023, 99% (2022: 21%) of trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest customer. In 
view of the history of business dealings with this debtor and the sound collection history of receivable due from 
this debtor, the management believes that there is no material credit risk inherent in the Group’s outstanding 
receivable balances due from this debtor. The directors of the Company considered the Group’s credit risk of 
these receivable balances to be low.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers 
who wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis and the counterparty has good history of repayment, the Group’s exposure to 
bad debts is not significant.

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit 
policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other information is available without undue cost 
or effort, and the year-end staging classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are gross carrying 
amounts for financial assets and the exposure to credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.

12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs  

Stage 1
Simplified 
approach Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2023
Trade receivables (note 23) * – 41,631 41,631
Financial assets included in deposits and other  

receivables (note 24) – normal** 2,125 – 2,125
Cash and cash equivalents – not yet past due 111,030 – 111,030    

At 31 December 2022
Trade receivables (note 23) * – 2,521 2,521
Bills receivable (note 23) 493 – 493
Financial assets included in deposits and other  

receivables (note 24) – normal** 1,089 – 1,089
Cash and cash equivalents – not yet past due 160,885 – 160,885    

* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix is 

disclosed in note 23(b) to the consolidated financial statements.

** The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables is considered to be “normal” when 

they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial 

recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Liquidity risk

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of 
bank loans and other borrowings.

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the reporting period, based on the 
contractual undiscounted payments is as follows:

Carrying 
amount

On demand 
and within 

one year

More than
one year but 

less than 
two years

More than 
two years 

but less than 
five years

Total 
contractual 

undiscounted 
payments

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At 31 December 2023
Trade payables 16,525 16,525 – – 16,525
Other payables and accruals 50,596 37,043 11,665 2,200 50,908
Other borrowings 19,750 19,948 – – 19,948      

86,871 73,516 11,665 2,200 87,381      

At 31 December 2022
Trade payables 16,513 16,513 – – 16,513
Other payables and accruals 68,475 41,270 27,205 – 68,475
Other borrowings 14,759 – 14,759 – 14,759      

99,747 57,783 41,964 – 99,747      

(e) Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue 
as a going concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise the 
shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may 
adjust the dividend payment to its shareholders or issue new shares to increase capital. No changes were made in 
the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.
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41. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Capital management (Continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is total debt divided by the total equity. Total debt 
includes other borrowings, and amount due to a former shareholder of a subsidiary. The gearing ratios as at the 
end of the reporting periods were as follows:

2023 2022
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Other borrowings 28 19,750 14,759
Amount due to a former shareholder of a subsidiary 27 11,665 23,336    

Total debt 31,415 38,095    

Total equity 334,243 321,878    

Gearing ratio 9.4% 11.8%    

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 March 
2024.



130

Champion Alliance International Holdings Limited  ANNUAL REPORT 2023
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the 
published audited financial statements is set out below.

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Continuing and discontinued 
operations

Revenue 530,713 568,701 492,414 334,008 245,991
Gross Profit 75,668 85,401 102,858 73,314 30,076
Profit/(loss) for the year 7,741 (477) 24,271 (13,233) 12,184      

CONSOLIDATED ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets
Non-current assets 53,179 53,036 290,140 236,106 216,023
Current assets 320,469 379,980 378,709 214,197 230,865      

Total assets 373,648 433,016 668,849 450,303 446,888      

Liabilities
Current liabilities 251,416 309,049 302,169 63,417 76,572
Non-current liabilities 944 1,259 26,559 65,008 36,073      

Total liabilities 252,360 310,308 328,728 128,425 112,645      

Equity
Total equity 121,288 122,708 340,121 321,878 334,243      
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